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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE"” AND THE “GEM"” RESPECTIVELY)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the "Directors”) of CBK Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

g

Dear value shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”)
of CBK Holdings Limited (the “Company"”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”), | present to you the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Over the past 2 years, the business environment in Hong Kong
was challenging. The China-United States trade war in 2018 and
the social unrest in 2019 had already affected the catering
industry in Hong Kong. The Group implemented various
measures by closing down our restaurants to minimize the
operating losses to protect the interests of shareholders. Since
January 2020, the outbreak of novel coronavirus (the
"pandemic”) further affected the business environment of
catering industry under the policies and the control and
prevention measures launched by the Hong Kong Government.
The limitation in seating capacity and the prohibition of dine-in
services after 6 p.m. mostly affected our business since hotpot
dining is a traditional choice for group gathering and is normally
offered during night time. Our business was therefore inevitably
affected by the pandemic and the government policies. As a
result, revenue of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$30.4 million, or 70.7%, from approximately HK$43.0 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$12.6
million for year ended 31 March 2021. Loss for the year
decreased from approximately HK$32.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 to approximately HK$10.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 which was benefited from the cost
control measures by closing down our restaurants since 2019.
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Chairman’s Statement

R

Under the pandemic, the management of the Group explored
and studied other business opportunities besides hotpot dining
to diversify the business risks of the Group. On 23 December
2020, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to
acquire 51% equity interest in Zhangzhou Jintian Food Co.,
Limited* (EME&HEBBRAF]) (“Jintian Food”) for a
consideration of HK$10.0 million. Jintian Food is principally
engaged in frozen aquatic products processing, surimi and
aquatic product dry and preserved processing and sales and
trading of aquatic products. The acquisition of Jintian Food was
expected to broaden the Group's source of income and diversify
its business portfolio, including but not limited to the services
and products types and the different geographical location. The
acquisition was completed on 18 May 2021 in which the Board
expects Jintian Food can provide additional source of income to
the Group and maximize shareholder’s returns.

Since February 2021, the Hong Kong Government has gradually
relaxed the control and prevention measures and the number
of infected cases remained at low level at the date of this report.
The Company has been formulating its business plan to resume
and expand the Group's food and beverage business and it is
foreseeable that the catering industry can be recovered once
the pandemic is under control.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our valuable customers, business partners and
shareholders for their continued support. We also thank the
management team and employees for their valuable
contributions to the Group during the year.

Chow Yik
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 June 2021

* for identification purpose only
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Financial Highlights

MBERE
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mE¥E
2021 2020
2021 & 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue Wz 12,634 43,024
Loss before tax bR A ES 18 (10,195) (32,883)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year  ANA R#E A AL F R
attributable to owners of the Company EiENEHEERRE (9,940) (32,883)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMEEE 14,891 9.227
Current assets mENEE 22,393 39,095
Total assets BEERAE 37,284 48,322
Equity and liabilities EakaE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANAB1# A A E{G R 24,375 27,564
Non-controlling interests IRV 1,834 -
Total equity RRAERE 26,209 27,564
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 2,969 7,724
Current liabilities nEaE 8,106 13,034
Total liabilities aEeE 11,075 20,758
Total equity and liabilities EaRkaEEE 37,284 48,322
Net current assets REEEFE 14,287 26,061
Net assets EEFE 26,209 27,564
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

BUSINESS REVIEW

In last year, the Group underwent a series of business
consolidation where our restaurants located at Kwai Chung
("CKC") and Prince Edward ("CPE") were closed in May 2019
and the restaurants located at Tsim Sha Tsui (“CTST"), Jordan
("CJD") and Tuen Mun (“CTM") in March 2020 to minimise the
operating losses to protect the interests of shareholders.

During the year under review, the outbreak of Coronavirus
disease (COVID-19) since January 2020 has affected the
business of the Group. The Hong Kong Government launched
various policies and measures to control and prevent the spread
of COVID-19, especially the limitation of seating capacity and
no dine-in after 6 p.m. affected our business. After reviewing
the performance of the restaurant located at Tai Po (“CTP"), the
Company decided to close down CTP in November 2020 to
minimise the loss.

As at the date of this report, the Group operates one restaurant
under our brand “Fun Fun Fun” located at Tai Wai ("CTW") in
Hong Kong and one Korean restaurant under the brand “Aidan
Cafe” located at Tai Wai.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 decreased by
approximately HK$30.4 million to approximately HK$12.6 million
(2020: approximately HK$43.0 million). The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to (i) the pandemic in Hong Kong since January
2020 where the number of customers visiting our restaurants
declined significantly under the control and prevention
measures of the Hong Kong Government; and (ii) the closures
of CKC and CPE in May 2019, CTST, CJD and CTM in March
2020, and CTP in November 2020.

Cost of inventories sold

Our cost of inventories sold for the year ended 31 March 2021
decreased by approximately HK$12.2 million to approximately
HK$6.8 million (2020: approximately HK$19.0 million) mainly due
to the decrease in food consumption where the number of
customers visiting our restaurants decreased under the
pandemic in Hong Kong since January 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

Our cost of inventories sold as a percentage of revenue
increased by approximately 9.5% to approximately 53.7% (2020:
approximately 44.2%) was mainly due to the increase in the cost
of food ingredients.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 decreased
by approximately HK$18.1 million to approximately HK$5.9
million (2020: approximately HK$24.0 million) and our gross
profit margin decreased by approximately 9.5% to
approximately 46.3% (2020: approximately 55.8%). The decrease
in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue and the increase in cost of inventories sold
as mentioned above.

Other revenue, other gain and loss

Our other revenue and other income for the year ended 31
March 2021 increased by approximately HK$6.9 million to
approximately HK$9.6 million (2020: approximately HK$2.7
million), which was primarily due to (i) the gain on lease
modification amounted to approximately HK$6.3 million; (i) the
receipt of government and other subsidies amounted to
approximately HK$2.8 million; and (iii) the rent concessions of
approximately HK$0.3 million.

Staff costs

Our staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2021 decreased by
approximately HK$7.6 million to approximately HK$7.7 million
(2020: approximately HK$15.3 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the closures of CKC and CPE in May 2019, CTST, CJD
and CTM in March 2020, and CTP in November 2020 where
fewer staff were employed.

Depreciation

Our depreciation for the year ended 31 March 2021 decreased
by approximately HK$11.4 million to approximately HK$3.5
million (2020: approximately HK$14.9 million), which was mainly
due to the closures of CKC and CPE in May 2019, CTST, CJD
and CTM in March 2020, and CTP in November 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

Property rentals and related expenses

Our property rentals and related expenses for the year ended
31 March 2021 decreased by approximately HK$2.4 million to
approximately HK$0.5 million (2020: approximately HK$2.9
million), which was mainly due to the closures of CKC and CPE
in May 2019, CTST, CJD and CTM in March 2020, and CTP in
November 2020.

Fuel and utility expenses

Our fuel and utility expenses for the year ended 31 March 2021
decreased by approximately HK$1.3 million to approximately
HK$0.7 million (2020: approximately HK$2.0 million), which was
mainly due to the closures of CKC and CPE in May 2019, CTST,
CJD and CTM in March 2020, and CTP in November 2020.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of property,
plant and equipment/right-of-use assets

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded an
impairment loss in respect of property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately HK$1.3 million and an impairment
loss in respect of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$3.7
million after the consideration of internal impairment
assessment by using forecasted free cashflow. The Group
applied the following key inputs in the forecasted free cashflow
calculation of internal impairment assessment:

Growth ratefte2 2.4%

Gross profit marginote 3 52.8%/70.8%

Pre-tax discount ratete 4 7.67%

Notes:

1. The forecasted free cashflow covered the remaining tenure of the leases
arrangements.

2. The growth rate in revenue was made reference to the annual percentage

change on inflation and average consumer prices in Hong Kong for 2020.

3. The gross profit margin was made reference to the historical gross profit
margin of the respective CGUs for the year ended 31 March 2020 since
the gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2021 is not
comparable under the Pandemic.

4. The pre-tax discount rate was calculated by the weight average cost of
capital of comparable companies listed in Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by approximately
HK$6.3 million to approximately HK$7.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately HK$14.2 million),
which was mainly due to the closures of CKC and CPE in May
2019, CTST, CJD and CTM in March 2020, and CTP in
November 2020.

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the
Group had loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$9.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$32.9 million).

RESULTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group's total assets as at 31 March 2021 decreased by
approximately HK$11.0 million to approximately HK$37.3 million
(2020: approximately HK$48.3 million).

The Group's total liabilities as at 31 March 2021 decreased by
approximately HK$9.7 million to approximately HK$11.1 million
(2020: approximately HK$20.8 million).

The equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31
March 2021 decreased by approximately HK$3.2 million to
approximately HK$24.4 million (2020: approximately HK$27.6
million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 15 February 2017. The share capital of
the Group only comprises ordinary shares.

On 27 January 2021, the Company placed 240,000,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.029 per placing share. A
share premium, net of issuing expenses of approximately
HK$4,560,000 had credited to share premium account. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$6,751,000 were used for the
general working capital of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWED T

As at 31 March 2021, the Company'’s issued share capital was
HK$14,400,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
1,440,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report,
the Group did not have other plans for material investments or
capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

On 23 December 2020, Smart Sino Enterprises Limited (“Smart
Sino”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Liang Yulin (the "Vendor”) entered into the equity transfer
agreement ("Equity Transfer Agreement”). Under the Equity
Transfer Agreement, Smart Sino has agreed to acquire, and the
Vendor has agreed to sell, 51% equity interest in the Target
Company representing RMB5.1 million of its registered capital,
at a total consideration of HK$10.0 million subject to the
fulfilment of the conditions precedent and the relevant terms
and conditions set out in the Equity Transfer Agreement (the
"Acquisition”). Details of the Acquisition were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 23 December 2020 and 12
March 2021. The completion of this acquisition refers to “Events
After The Report Period”.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company
did not have any significant investment, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Most of the transactions of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and the Group is not exposed to any significant
foreign exchange exposure. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
will monitor the foreign exchange exposure should the need
arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitment
amounted to HK$5.0 million in respect of the balance payment
for the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Jintian Food (2020:
Nil). Save for this, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any mortgage or
charge over its assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 May 2021, all the conditions precedent and the relevant
terms and condition set out in the Equity Transfer Agreement
have been fulfilled and completion of the Acquisition (the
"Completion”) took place.
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Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Yik, aged 40, is our chairman of the Board, executive
director, the chairman of the legal compliance committee, a
member of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
Engineering, majoring in Electronic and Communication
Engineering from the City University of Hong Kong and is
currently studying the Master of Business Administration
programme ("EMBA") at the School of Economics and
Management of Tsinghua University. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Chow became an executive director of Kirin Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8109) from April 2015 to October 2020, a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, which
principally engaged in the provision of insurance brokerage and
related services, assets management and securities brokerage
service and money lending services in Hong Kong and multi-
channel network entertainment services.

During April 2020 to May 2021, Mr. Chow was an executive
director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code:
8148), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
which principally engaged in developing and marketing of
patented server based technology and the provision of
communications software platform and software related
services; money lending business; and game publishing,
development of mobile game and related intellectual property
and platform, mobile applications and data solutions and
provision of IT related solutions.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Chan Lap Ping, aged 53, is our executive director. Mr.
Chan joined our Group as general manager in January 2004. He
is primarily responsible for supervising the day-to-day
operations of our restaurants. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of
experience in restaurant operations in Hong Kong, of which he
worked as a manager of various restaurants responsible for
managing day-to-day operation of restaurants.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chan attended primary and secondary school education in
Hong Kong from 1976 to 1983. Mr. Chan was awarded a
certificate in leadership and decision making skills by the Hong
Kong Management Association (B EEHZEXHE) in May
2007.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, aged 52, was appointed as our executive
director. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Practising
Accountant of CPA Australia. He holds a bachelor’'s degree in
Economics from Macquarie University in Australia. Mr. Tsui has
over 25 years of extensive experience in corporate finance and
accounting.

Mr. Tsui was an executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group
Limited (stock code: 8148) from April 2020 to December 2020, a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, which
principally engaged in developing and marketing of patented
server based technology and the provision of communications
software platform and software related services; money lending
business; and game publishing, development of mobile game
and related intellectual property and platform, mobile
applications and data solutions and provision of IT related
solutions.

In August 2020, Mr. Tsui was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
8220), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
which principally engaged in movie production, licensing and
derivatives, crossover marketing and provision of interactive
contents and cinema investment and management.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director and the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the legal compliance
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit
committee of our Group on 20 January 2017. Mr. Chan has over
10 years of corporate banking experience in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan has been employed by the AIA International Limited
("AIA") since June 2009 as a business manager. Mr. Chan was
subsequently promoted to his current position as a career
representative unit manager in December 2014. He is
responsible for management of a team providing assistance to
clients in respect of wealth management and their insurance
coverage. Prior to joining AIA, Mr. Chan worked in the
international and local banks in Hong Kong and Australia. He
was primarily responsible for managing clientele portfolio, in
respect of products structure, risk assessment and profitability.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales in
Australia with a bachelor’'s degree in commerce, majoring in
accounting and finance in October 1994. Mr. Chan has been a
practising Certified Public Accountant registered with the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants since
November 1997. He has also been admitted as an associate of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(formerly known as Hong Kong Society of Accountants) since
February 2001.

Since June 2017, Mr. Chan became an independent non-
executive director of UTS Marketing Solutions Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6113), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
which principally carries on the business of providing
telemarketing services of financial products in Malaysia.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Wong Syndia D, aged 37, was appointed as our
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of the legal compliance
committee, a member of the audit committee and a member of
the nomination committee. She was graduated from Edinburgh
Napier University, United Kingdom with a bachelor’'s degree in
Communication, Advertising and Public Relations. She has over
10 years of experience in corporate finance. Ms. Syndia Wong is
currently an investor relations manager of Silver Base Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 886), a company listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, which principally engaged in the
distribution of a number of Chinese and overseas high-end
liquor products, with baijiu as the most prominent items
together with high quality wine and whiskey products from
around the world; the establishment of an international sales
network which covers different regions of China as well as
various countries in Europe and Asia by means of a self-
operated online sales platform “Wine Kingdom”, which carries
a host of diverse wine and liquor products; the development of
the overseas market in the sales of various brands of Chinese
cigarettes.

Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Law Yui Lun, aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee, a member of the legal compliance committee, a
member of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee of our Company on 20 January 2017. Mr.
Law has over 20 years of experience in the accounting,
corporate taxation and financial advisory. Mr. Law has been the
sole proprietor of Y.L. Law and Company, a company which
provides consultancy and company secretarial services in Hong
Kong since June 1999.

Mr. Law obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration
from Oklahoma City University in the United States in December
1991. Mr. Law has been admitted as a fellow of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom
since October 1990. Mr. Law has been admitted as an associate
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong since May 1993.
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Directors and Senior Management
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During April 2005 to December 2019, Mr. Law was an
independent non-executive director of Shougang Concord
Century Holdings Limited (stock code: 103), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and principally carries
on the business of steel cords manufacturing, copper
processing and trading of copper and brass products.

During July to September 2020, Mr. Law was an independent
non-executive director of China Trustful Group Limited (stock
code: 8265), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
and principally engaged in the provision of electric vehicle
business and energy and petrochemical business.

Since November 2017, Mr. Law was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Dadi International
Group Limited (stock code: 8130), a company listed on GEM
and carries on the business of advertising and media related
services, provision of financial leasing and other financial
services and travel agency and related operations.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lu Jun Bo, aged 36, has over 10 years of experience in the
financial investment and management advisory industry in the
PRC. He is currently the chairman and managing director of
Guiyang Rui Shu Investment Management Company Limited

(B R EEERRAT).

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Yu Chi, aged 62, has been our Chief Financial Officer
since he joined our Group in January 2013. He is also a member
of the legal compliance committee of our Group. He is
principally responsible for overseeing our Group's overall
financial accounting and reporting as well as corporate
governance matters. Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience
in the auditing and accounting profession.

Mr. Chan graduated from the Open University of Hong Kong
(formerly known as the Open Learning Institute of Hong Kong)
with three respective degrees. He obtained a bachelor’'s and a
master's degree in business administration in December 1995
and December 2001, respectively. He also obtained a master’s
degree of Electronic Commerce in December 2007. Mr. Chan
has been admitted as a certified public accountant of HKICPA
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Society of Accountants)
since January 1999. He has further become a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) since
September 1999 and has been its fellow since September 2004.

Mr. Chan was awarded the Certificate in Personnel
Management by the School of Continuing Education of Hong
Kong Baptist University. Mr. Chan obtained the 5-S Lead
Auditor (Green Belt) Certificate from HK5-S Association in
December 2008. He also obtained the ERS 55 Management
Certificate from Hong Kong Environmental Resource and Safety
Institute and the Basic Food Hygiene Certificate for Food
Hygiene Managers from Hong Kong Christian Service Kwun
Tong Vocational Training Council in April and October 2009,
respectively.

On 31 March 2021, Mr. Chan was appointed as the company
secretary of Palace Banquet Holdings Limited (stock code:
1703), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and is principally engaged in the operation of
Chinese restaurants in Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex, aged 55, was appointed as a joint
company secretary. He has over 18 years of experience in
managing companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas. He
obtained his bachelor of business administration (honours)
degree in finance from the Hong Kong Baptist University in
1990, and an advance diploma in specialist taxation from the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2012. Mr.
Chan is currently a fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries, a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chan Yu Chi and Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex are the joint
company secretaries of our Company. The biographical details
of each of the joint company secretaries are set out in the
subsection headed “Senior Management” in this section.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Chow Yik is the compliance officer of our Company. Mr.
Chow's biography is set out in the subsection headed
"Executive Directors” in this section.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

INTRODUCTION

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") under Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has fully complied
with all applicable provisions of the CG Code.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance appropriate to the conduct and growth of its
business and to review its corporate governance from time to
time to ensure they comply with the statutory and the CG Code
and align with the latest developments.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board's primary responsibilities are to oversee the
management of the Group, to formulate the Group's long-term
corporate strategy including the formulation and approval of all
policy matters, internal control and risk management systems,
to evaluate the performance of the Group and to assess the
achievement of targets periodically set by the Board.

In addition, the Board has also established Board Committees
and has delegated to these Board Committees various
responsibilities set out in their terms of reference respectively.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group's businesses to the executive
directors, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, there are three executive
directors, namely Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman), Mr. Chan Lap Ping,
and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, and four independent non-executive
directors (“INEDs"), namely Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew, Mr.
Law Yui Lun, Mr. Lu Jun Bo and Ms. Wong Syndia D .

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in

the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and
financial expertise and independent judgement to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and serving
on various Board committees, all INEDs will make various
contributions to the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board has at all times
met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation,
the Company considers that all the INEDs are independent and
have met the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules up to the date of this annual report.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against
the Directors’ liability has been arranged by the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) from the date of Listing up to the date of this
corporate governance report. A summary of this Board Diversity
Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this Board Diversity Policy, and the progress
made towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as
follows.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining the Company'’s
competitive advantage. In reviewing and assessing the Board’s
composition, the Board will consider a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, and industry and regional experience.
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The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval. The Nomination Committee
will from time to time review the Board Diversity Policy as
appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered
that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy in the year
ended 31 March 2021.

INEDs

The current INEDs are Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew, Mr. Law Yui
Lun, Mr. Lu Jun Bo and Ms. Wong Syndia D. The INEDs help the
management to formulate the Group’s development strategies,
ensure the Board prepares its financial and other mandatory
reports in strict compliance with required standards, and ensure
the Company maintains appropriate system to protect the
interests of the Company and the shareholders. The Company
received the annual confirmation from the INEDs in respect of
their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considered all the INEDs to be
independent.

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
According to the Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all
Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company would arrange and/or introduce some
training for the Directors to develop and explore their
knowledge and skills.
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The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on the Directors’ training.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development and the E = THEHEEEBER :

relevant details are set out below:

EEMREERESENEIIEBTEE
SPRIA ST AR SCEE AL5 1K ©
F3ANBILEEE 2REE

B0

RE = 2021
028

=z 2%

g
L1

Directors Reading materials
B2 B B
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) BREA (E/E) 4
(appointed on 11 December 2020) (FR2020F 12 A 11 BEZEE)
Mr. Chan Lap Ping PR A v
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak RKEERE 4
(appointed on 11 December 2020) (7R 20205 12 A 11 BEZEE)
Mr. Zhang Chi Rt 5T A
(removed on 16 December 2020) (EA2020¢ 121681 8ER) 4
Ms. Wong Wai Fong =R FRT
(resigned on 18 December 2020) (50 20204 12 A 18 HEHT) v
Non-executive director FHITEE
Mr. Wu Jing Xie REBFIE v
(appointed on 16 April 2020 and (202054 R 16 BEZER
resigned on 18 December 2020) 7220204 12 A 18 H & E)
Independent non-executive directors BUIFHITEE
Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew [RAgHESEE 4
Mr. Law Yui Lun BEBiiiE v
Mr. Lu Jun Bo (appointed on 16 April 2020)  FEEH 4 (7R 2020F4 A 16 HEZ 1) 4
Ms. Wong Syndia D FFELt 4
(appointed on 18 December 2020) (2020512 H18 HEZ(T)
Mr. Chung Wing Yin EKBSEE 4
(resigned on 8 January 2021) (7202141 A8 HEHE)
MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS' EEESBRESHERCH
ATTENDANCE RECORDS
Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with 3 E Q/E\E%E'Jﬂﬁf'ﬁ% fEErmE

the Directors in advance. In addition to the above, notice of at ~ E1}JE ° B Lt & 5h - ==
least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting. For other ‘ﬁ149§E’JL%ﬂﬁﬁ ZEREMEZSE
Board meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. & RITgRHeEEA -
Draft agenda of each Board meeting is usually sent to all BEZ2SENEERZEE— EREM
Directors together with the notice in order to give them an BEXE2EES - E%?&’ ﬁjf»% A AEAR]
opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for HttEEMAZEURE AT AR ©
discussion in the meeting.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting to provide them with materials
relating to the transactions to be discussed in the meeting in
order to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board
and each Director also have separate and independent access
to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Chairman, other Directors and other relevant senior
management normally attend regular Board meetings and,
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Group.

The Joint Company Secretaries are responsible to keep minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to Directors for comments within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is
open for Directors’ inspection.

Accounting to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interest for substantial shareholders
or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at
a duly convened Board meeting. The M&A contains provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted
in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, fifteen Board meetings,
one annual general meeting and two extraordinary meeting
were held. The attendance record of each Director at the
meetings is set out in the table below:

HE2021F3A3THIEFE - ©8£1715
RERZEEH  —ARERBEFRENRNX

BRENAE -REZNEFTSRALRE
FLEREN TR -

Annual Extraordinary
Board General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors Attended/Held  Attended/Held  Attended/Held
HEESS HERREF R R 4B
EEps eERE/ rERE/ RERE/
BITRY BTRY BETRY
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) BNELE (FE) 5/15 0/ 1/2
(appointed on 11 December 2020) (R2020F 125 11 HEZ(E)
Mr. Chan Lap Ping R A& 15/15 171 1/2
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak BoKGEEE 5/15 0/1 1/2
(appointed on 11 December 2020) (R2020 12511 HEZHF)
Mr. Zhang Chi R 10/15 0/1 1/2
(removed on 16 December 2020) ( }}'AZOZO@C 12816 H#EE)
Ms. Wong Wai Fong L 10/15 11 1/2
(resigned on 18 December 2020) (/R/‘ZOZOJ/JF 12518 HEHE)
Non-executive director FHITEE
Mr. Wu Jing Xie RELRE 8/15 0/1 172
(appointed on 16 April 2020 and (R202064 716 HEZFR
resigned on 18 December 2020) R2020F 12 F 18 AFHE)
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUIHEHTEE
Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew R LE 15/15 171 212
Mr. Law Yui Lun EBRLL 15/15 17 212
Mr. Lu Jun Bo EEREL 14/15 11 12
(appointed on 16 April 2020) (R20204 5 16 HEZ(F)
Ms. Wong Syndia D THagt 4/15 0/1 0/2
(appointed on 18 December 2020) (R2020% 12 5 18 HEZF)
Mr. Chung Wing Yin ExELE 8/15 1/1 172
(resigned on 8 January 2021) (R202141 5 8 AE#E)
BOARD COMMITTEES EEFE®
The Board has established four Board committees, namely the %%AEBZ_L@“%%?A = IE%ZE
audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination EB& - #ﬁ@‘; CIREREEENEREE
committee and the legal compliance committee to oversee (ZEE FEF@(K AITRIEENE
particular aspects of the Company’s affair. The Board - EELBEHARTERUEITER

committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge

their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee has been established with its terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules, and paragraphs C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the CG Code.
The audit committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Ms. Wong Syndia
D, all being INEDs. Mr. Law Yui Lun currently serves as the
chairman of the audit committee. The committee is to assist the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the internal
controls of our Group, and as to the adequacy of the external
and internal audits.

With reference to the terms of reference, the primary
responsibilities of the audit committee, among others, are as
follow:

(@) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditors, and to approve and
review the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to develop and implement policy on engaging external
auditors to supply non-audit services;

(d) to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the
annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them;

(e) to discuss the internal control system with management of
our Group to ensure that the management of our Group
has performed its duty to have an effective internal control
system; and
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() to develop and review our Group's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board and monitor our Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The members of the audit committee should meet at least twice
a year. During the year ended 31 March 2021, five audit
committee meetings were held to review the Group’s annual
results and annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020, first
quarterly results for the three months ended 30 June 2020,
interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2020,
and third quarterly results for the nine months ended 31
December 2020, discussing the effectiveness of the corporate
governance, internal control, risk management, audit-related
and financial reporting matters and also the nature and scope
of audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
Our Group's consolidated financial statements in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the audit
committee. There was no disagreement between the Board and
the audit committee regarding the selection and appointment
of the external auditors during the year ended 31 March 2021.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") be nominated for re-
appointment as the Company’s auditor at the forthcoming
AGM.

The attendance record of each Director at the audit committee
meeting is set out in the table below:

)  HIELBIANEEODEEGRR
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RERAEENOBREEREEE
SERREERE °

ERLZECNERBFELRITMAE
FHeNEZE2021F3ANBILFEE - F
REEGERITAANEH:  UERAEE
HE2020F3A3HEFENFEER
NMEWR - HE2020F6A30H 1IF=18A
ME—FTEEE - HZE2020F9H30H
EAREANFHES  UKREE2020F
RANBIENEANE=FTEEE " &
WIEE RN - APEEE - ARBRE
B BEZEERMERESHE  WHRER
FIART T BT e M E R ERET -
NEBEHZE2021F3831BIEFERNLE
AU EBRREKCHEZZESERM -EF
THEZZ B ERIE LT EHE 2021
F3 A31 B IEFERINEZERN 75 I &
BERAOE BRZESRENEERRR
FASRAVBERESITMEEMERA
A (B ]) B4 A RIAZEAD -

ij2)3

BESNERZEGHFCEHN T

Audit Committee

Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held

HEBZEER®

BEEnA KRB BITRE

Mr. Law Yui Lun (Chairman) BEBLE(EE) 5/5

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew bR 5 A 5/5

Ms. Wong Syndia D FRELt 1/5
(appointed on 8 January 2021) (R2021F 1 H8 HEZAT)

Mr. Chung Wing Yin EXBEAE 4/5

(resigned on 8 January 2021) (RR20214F 1 A8 HEHTE)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee has been established with its terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1.2 of the CG
Code. The remuneration committee consists of four members,
namely Mr. Chow Yik, an executive director, and Mr. Chan Hoi
Kuen Matthew, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Ms. Wong Syndia D, being
the INEDs. Ms. Wong Syndia D currently serves as the chairman
of the remuneration committee.

The remuneration committee is obliged to report to the Board
on its decisions or recommendations. With reference to the
terms of reference of remuneration committee, the primary
duties, among others, are as follow:

(@) to formulate remuneration policy for the approval of the
Board:;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board on our Group's
policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(c) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives;

(d) to determine, with delegated responsibility or make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management of our Group;

() to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors;

()  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management of our Group for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that
it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;
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(@) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct
to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

(h)  to consider the performance bonus for executive directors,
senior management and general staff, having regard to
their achievements against the performance criteria and by
reference to market norms, and make recommendations
to the Board.

The members of the remuneration committee should meet at
least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2021, three
remuneration committee meeting was held to review and make
recommendations on the remuneration package of the directors
and senior management.

The attendance record of each Director at the remuneration
committee meeting is set out in the table below:

(o) B RHtEEREERTA T RE
fRIESRERNEERE  UERZ
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BRER B BETESEEE
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h REATEF FREEABR—
METHNERYRRERNBEZR
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RI|IEAL » WRAEF SRR °
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FHoREZE2MNF3ANBIEFE "
MEEeGRIT=ReH  UEMKES
EERaREBEABNTFMAZE -

BEFNHIME B S HF RN Tk

Remuneration
Committee Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held
HESFHNESS

EEpR B BITIRY

Ms. Wong Syndia D (Chairman) Tzt (FE) 0/3
(appointed on 8 January 2021) (R2021F 1 H8 HEZA(T)

Mr. Chow Yik JEH S A 173
(appointed on 18 December 2020) (R20204F 12 H 18 HEZ(F)

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew (R E 3/3

Mr. Law Yui Lun mEBTE 3/3

Ms. Wong Wai Fong mEFXL 2/3
(resigned on 18 December 2020) (R 20204 12 A 18 H EFHF)

Mr. Chung Wing Yin EKERAE 173
(resigned on 8 January 2021) (R20214 1 H8 HEHE)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee has been established with its terms of
reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code.
The nomination committee of our Group consists of four
members, namely Mr. Chow Yik, an executive director, and Mr.
Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew, Mr. Law Yui Lun and Ms. Wong Syndia
D, being the INEDs. Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew currently
serves as the chairman of the nomination committee.
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The nomination committee is obliged to report to the Board on

its decisions or recommendations. With reference to the terms

of reference of nomination committee, the primary duties,

among others, are as follow:

(a)

32

to formulate nomination policy for the Board's
consideration and implement the Board’s approved
nomination policy;

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement our Group's
corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

to receive nominations from shareholders or Directors
when such are tendered and to make recommendations to
the Board on the candidacy of the nominees, having
regard to the Board’s compositional requirements and
suitability of the nominees;

to assess the independence of INEDs and review the
INEDs' confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive of our Group; and

regularly review the contribution required from a Director
to perform his/her responsibilities to our Group, and
whether he/she is spending sufficient time performing
them.
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The members of the nomination committee should meet at
least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2021, three
nomination committee meeting was held to review and assess (i)
the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board, (ii) the independence
of INEDs, and (iii) the performance of the directors. The
nomination committee had also made recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

The attendance record of each Director at the nomination
committee meeting is set out in the table below:

REAZESENERSFETEL —RE
FoREZE22MF3A3BIEFE B
HEEEBRITZREEH  Rs KFHE
(VESZHEE  FERAEK(BERI -
MEE LR () BYIERITESNE L
M RNESHREA - RBZEEE
MEENZELRENZEUANEENEL
FrElmMESSREERS -

EEFMRARESHFREIN TR

Nomination
Committee Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held
HEREZESR

EEpR REBITIRE

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew (Chairman) PRGRES A (£/5) 3/3

Ms. Wong Syndia D FFELt 0/3
(appointed on 8 January 2021) (R20214F 1 H8 HEZ(T)

Mr. Chow Yik A5 A4 1/3
(appointed on 18 December 2020) (R20204F 12 A 18 HEZF)

Mr. Law Yui Lun BEBrth 3/3

Ms. Wong Wai Fong mEFUL 2/3
(resigned on 18 December 2020) (R20204F 12 A 18 A §#E)

Mr. Chung Wing Yin EXBEAE 1/3
(resigned on 8 January 2021) (R20214 1 A8 HEHT)

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

A legal compliance committee has been established for the
purpose of assisting in overseeing compliance with laws and
regulations relevant to our operations as well as the adequacy
and effectiveness of regulatory compliance procedures and
system. The legal compliance committee comprises: (i) Mr.
Chow Yik, the chairman of the Board and an executive director;
(ii) Mr. Chan Yu Chi, the chief financial officer and joint company
secretaries of the Company; (i) Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew,
Mr. Law Yui Lun and Ms. Wong Syndia D, being INEDs.
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With reference to the terms of reference, the primary

responsibilities of the legal compliance committee, among

others, are as follow:

(a)

34

to review the effectiveness of the Group's regulatory
compliance procedures and system, including operational
and compliance procedures and risk management
functions;

to assess and review the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, and training programmes in
relation to the Group's regulatory compliance functions;

to assist the audit committee of the Company in
overseeing the Group's corporate governance functions,
which includes (i) developing and reviewing the policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the audit committee on a quarterly
basis; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; and (iv) reviewing the
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be included in the annual report of
the Company;

to receive and handle any actual or suspected non-
compliance matters reported by the employees of the
Group and engage external professional advisers to assist
in the preparation of reports and recommendations in
respect of such actual or suspected non-compliance
matters; and

to review the effectiveness of the Group’s ongoing
measures to prevent future noncompliance incidents and
provide updates on the applicable laws related to the
Group's business operations with the assistance of external
professional parties including legal advisers as to Hong
Kong law, compliance adviser, and internal control
consultant from time to time.
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The members of the legal compliance committee should meet
at least once a year. During the year ended 31 March 2021, one
legal compliance committee meeting was held to review and
assess (i) the compliance policies of the Company against the
applicable laws and regulations and (ii) the training and
continuing professional development of the directors and
senior management.

The attendance record of each Director at the legal compliance
committee meeting is set out in the table below:

FREHEZEENERSFRITIEL X
T REE2021F3A3NHIEFE
FEREHETEGERITREE - U
REHE () AR RISt EAER KRN E
MEE RHEELRSRETEABNE
RIFEFEER -

BESNEEEGHZESTHELEENT
*x:

Legal Compliance
Committee Meeting

Name of Director Attended/Held

HELEEHREER
BEEnA KRB BITRE
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman) AWML E(FE) 0/1

(appointed on 18 December 2020) (FR2020F 12 A 18 HEZ(F)

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew BRIGHE LA 171
Mr. Chan Yu Chi PR aNF 5L A 1/1
Mr. Law Yui Lun ‘EEBTE 1
Ms. Wong Syndia D Frrmit 0/1

(appointed on 8 January 2021)
Ms. Wong Wai Fong

(resigned on 18 December 2020)
Mr. Chung Wing Yin

(resigned on 8 January 2021)

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

(R2021F 1 H8HEZ(TF)
BREFSLL
(R20204 12 H 18 H BHF)

e
(R20214 1 5 8 HF#E)

BB &

171

171

The Group's independent external auditors is HLB. The
remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
HLB to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 was

AEERE L INEZBED AR E - SLERA
REE2021E3A3BLEFEERAER
MM Z B N IEZER A A B 4 Bl < a0

approximately as follows: N

Amount

ot}

Type of Services (HK$'000)
PR 7 38 B (F%&7T)
Audit services =R 300
Non-audit services FIEAZ BN AR TS -
Total =t 300
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control and risk management systems.
Such internal control and risk management systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control and risk management systems once
during the year ended 31 March 2021 which covered financial,
operational, compliance, procedural and risk management
functions and had considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In light of the size and scale of the Group's business, the Group
does not have an internal audit function as the Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group. The
Board will review and consider to establish such department as
and when it thinks necessary.

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct independent internal control review for the year ended
31 March 2021 and the review is completed as at the date of
this annual report.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices
are very important for maintaining and promoting investor
confidence and for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group has therefore made continued efforts to uplift its quality
of corporate governance. It has established a highly effective
system of internal controls and adopted a series of measures to
ensure its safety and effectiveness. As a result, the Group is able
to safeguard its assets and protect the interests of its
shareholders.

The Board is of the view that the systems of internal control and
risk management are effective and there are no irregularities,
improprieties, fraud or other deficiencies that suggest material
deficiency in the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements and
ensuring that the consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, profitability and cash flows of the Group for that
period in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors have adopted
appropriate and consistent accounting policies and made
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimations. The
Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the state of
affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of
the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Chan Yu Chi are the joint
company secretaries of the Company. The biographical details
of them are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. In accordance with Rule
5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, they had taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
March 2021.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

The Company uses a number of channels to communicate to
shareholders and investors on the performance of the
Company, including (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports; (i) the AGM or extraordinary general meeting
which provide a forum for shareholders of the Company to raise
comments and exchange views with the Board; (iii) key
information on the Group is available on the website of the
Company; and (iv) the Company'’s share registrars in Hong Kong
serve the shareholders on all share registration matters. The
Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with
high standard of disclosure and financial transparency.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM for which at
least 21 days' notice is given. The chairperson of the Board on
other Directors are available to answer shareholders’ questions
on the Group's business at the meetings. All shareholders have
statutory rights to call for extraordinary general meetings and to
put forward an agenda for consideration.

According to Article 23 of the Articles of Association of the
Company (the "Articles of Association”), one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company,
have the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Articles of
Association. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting following
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.
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If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall
“Written Notice”) to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
1501, 15/F., Vanta Industrial Centre, 21-33 Tai Lin Pai Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The Written Notice (i)

deposit a written notice (the

must include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii) must
be signed by the Shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and
consent of the publication of his/her personal information. The
period for lodgment of the Written Notice shall commence on
the day after the despatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

In order to ensure the shareholders have sufficient time to
receive and consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a Director without adjourning the general meeting,
shareholders are urged to submit and lodge the Written Notice
as early as practicable preferably at least 15 business days prior
to the date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

Shareholders may send written enquiries by post, together with
his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax,
addressing to the Board at the head office of the Company at
the following address:

CBK Holdings Limited

Room 1501, 15/F., Vanta Industrial Centre
21-33 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories, Hong Kong

Attention: Board of Directors
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that aims to
enhance the shareholders’ value. The Company'’s ability to pay
dividends will depend on, among others, our result of
operations, cash flows and financial condition, general business
conditions and strategies, our operating and capital
requirements, the amount of distributable profits based on the
generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong and
other factors which the Board deems relevant and having
regard to the director’s fiduciary duties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company's
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors'’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all
Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors have
complied with such required standard of dealings and the
Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions from the date of Listing and up to the date of this
report.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For business review of the Group for the year, please refer to
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group believes that there are certain risk and uncertainties
involved in its operations, some of which are beyond our
Group's control. Our Group has categorised these risks and
uncertainties into: (i) risks relating to our business; and (ii) risks
relating to our industry. Some of our principal risk and
uncertainties include:

e we are susceptible to instances of food poisoning,
customer complaints and any other negative publicity
associated with our restaurants or food safety in general, in
which case value of our brands may suffer;

e hotpot dining may lose popularity and our financial
conditions and future growth may be adversely affected;

e the lack of suitable locations on commercially viable terms,
the increase in rental expenses and failure to renew
existing leases of the leased properties may adversely
affect our results of operations;

e our profitability is dependent upon the spending power of
our target consumers and a decline of such spending
power may adversely affect our business;

e opening new hotpot restaurants may result in fluctuations
in our financial performance; and

e our overall performance may be affected by temporary
suspension of our operations for renovation and closure of
certain restaurants.

For further details about the principal risk and uncertainties of
the Group for the year, please refer to “Risk Factors” section of
the Prospectus.
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Our Group has established structures and measures to manage
our risks, including but not limited to the following:

(i)  our Board conducts a thorough examination of any
material risks associated with any material business
decision before making or approving such decision;

(i)  our senior management monitors daily operations and any
associated operational risks of our Group. They are also
responsible for identifying and assessing potential market
risks related to fluctuations in industrial environment and
movements in market variables and report irregularities in
connection with operational and market risks to our
executive Directors for formulating policies to mitigate
these risks;

(iii) our audit committee reviews the internal control system
and procedures for compliance with the requirements of
applicable laws and regulations and the Corporate
Governance Code, details of which are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report;

(ivy our Group has engaged an external professional
consultant to conduct independent internal control review
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the review is
completed as at the date of this annual report; and

(v)  our Group has appointed an external legal adviser to
advise us on compliance with and to provide us with
updates on the changes in the GEM Listing Rules and the
applicable Hong Kong laws, rules and regulations from
time to time and as required.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements. The principal activity
of the Group is the provision of catering services in Hong Kong.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 175.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2021.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group is set out on page 176 of the annual
report. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 March 2021, current assets amounted to approximately
HK$22.4 million (2020: approximately HK$39.1 million) of which
approximately HK$17.3 million (2020: approximately HK$34.1
million) was cash and bank balances, and approximately HK$5.1
million (2020: approximately HK$5.0 million) was trade
receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables. The
Group's current liabilities amounted to approximately HK$8.1
million (2020: approximately HK$13.0 million), including trade
payables and accrued charges and other payables in the
amount of approximately HK$6.3 million (2020: approximately
HK$7.2 million) and lease liabilities of approximately HK$1.8
million (2020: approximately HK$5.8 million). Current ratio and
quick ratio were approximately 2.8 and approximately 2.8
respectively (2020: approximately 3.0 and approximately 3.0
respectively).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report,
the Group did not have other plans for material investments or
capital assets as of 31 March 2021.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING

On 15 February 2017, the Company'’s shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”). A total of 300,000,000 new
ordinary shares with nominal value of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were issued at HK$0.25 per share for a total of HK$75.0
million. The net proceeds raised by the Company from the
abovementioned Placing were approximately HK$53.5 million.

On 27 January 2021, the Company placed 240,000,000 placing
shares at the placing price of HK$0.029 per placing share. Net
proceeds of approximately HK$6.8 million were received and
used for the general working capital of the Group.

On 8 April 2021, the use of unutilized net proceeds from Listing
amounted to HK$22.4 million were changed. Details of change
in use of net proceeds were set out in the Company's
announcement dated 8 April 2021.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group has not made charitable donations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company's share capital and movements during
the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 81 and note 26(b) to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company has reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$60.5 million (2020: approximately HK$56.2 million).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Apart from the contracts relating to the reorganisation of our
Group in relation to the listing and save as disclosed in the
"Continuing Connected Transaction” in this report and note 27
to consolidated financial statements to this annual report, no
other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, the substantial shareholders and their
respective close associates had an interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group during the year ended or as at
31 March 2021.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2021 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme disclosed below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement (as defined in
section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
(Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the rules of
the Share Option Scheme conditionally adopted by the
resolutions in writing of all the shareholders passed on 20
January 2017 (the "Adoption Date”). The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(A) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

(B)

46

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers
of our Group and to promote the success of the business
of our Group.

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such
terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or
part-time), director, consultant or adviser of our Group, or
any substantial shareholder of our Group, or any
distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business
partner or service provider of our Group, options to
subscribe at a price calculated in accordance with
paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case
may be, our independent non-executive directors) from
time to time on the basis of his contribution or potential
contribution to the development and growth of our Group.
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(@)

(D)

Price of shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by our Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of:
(i) the closing price of our Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
of the closing prices of our Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant of the option. For the purpose of calculating the
subscription price, where our Company has been listed on
the Stock Exchange for less than five business days, the
issue price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange shall be
used as the closing price for any business day fall within
the period before Listing.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to
our Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
an option is HK$1.0.

(@)

(D)
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(E) Maximum number of shares
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(a)

Subject to sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) below, the
maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company as from the Adoption Date (excluding, for
this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise of
options which have been granted but which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of
our Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
our Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (taking no
account of any Shares may be issued upon the
exercise of the Offer Size Adjustment Option).
Therefore, it is expected that our Company may grant
options in respect of up to 120,000,000 Shares (or
such numbers of Shares as shall result from a sub-
division or a consolidation of such 120,000,000 Shares
from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed
at any time by approval of the shareholders in general
meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company must
not exceed 10% of our Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company
(including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Company) will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the refreshed 10% limit. A circular must be
sent to our shareholders containing the information
as required under the GEM Listing Rules in this
regard.
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(c)  Our Company may seek separate approval by our
shareholders in general meeting for granting options
beyond the 10% limit provided the options in excess
of the 10% limit are granted only to grantees
specifically identified by our Company before such
approval is sought. In such event, our Company must
send a circular to our shareholders containing a
generic description of such grantees, the number and
terms of such options to be granted and the purpose
of granting options to them with an explanation as to
how the terms of the options will serve such purpose
and all other information required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

(d) The aggregate number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of our Company must not exceed 30% of our Shares
in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of our Company if this will
result in such 30% limit being exceeded.

(F) Maximum number of shares of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of our
Company in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further
grant of options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by shareholders in general meeting with such
grantee and his associates abstaining from voting. In such
event, our Company must send a circular to our
shareholders containing the identity of the grantee, the
number and terms of the options to be granted (and
options previously granted to such grantee), and all other
information required under the GEM Listing Rules. The
number and terms (including the subscription price) of the
options to be granted must be fixed before the approval
of our shareholders and the date of the Board meeting
proposing such further grant should be taken as the date
of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription
price.
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(G) Grant of options to certain connected persons
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(a)

Any grant of an option to a Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of our Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by our
independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive
director (or any of their respective associates) will
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted to such person under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of our Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our
Shares in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of our Shares at the date of each grant, in
excess of HK$5 million,

such further grant of options is required to be
approved by our shareholders at a general meeting
of our Company, with voting to be taken by way of
poll. Our Company shall send a circular to our
shareholders containing all information as required
under the GEM Listing Rules in this regard. All
connected persons of our Company shall abstain
from voting (except where any connected person
intends to vote against the proposed grant). Any
change in the terms of an option granted to a
substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive director or any of their respective associates
is also required to be approved by our shareholders
in the aforesaid manner.
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(H) Restrictions on the times of grant of options

(a)

Our Company may not grant any options after inside

information has come to its knowledge until such

inside information has been announced. In particular,

no options may be granted during the period

commencing one month immediately preceding the

earlier of:

(1)

the date of the Board meeting (as such date is
first notified to the Stock Exchange in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules) for the
approval of our Company'’s results for any year,
half-year, quarterly or other interim period
(whether or not required under the GEM Listing
Rules); and

the deadline for our Company to publish an
announcement of the results for any year, half-
year or quarterly under the GEM Listing Rules,
or other interim period (whether or not required
under the GEM Listing Rules).

Further to the restrictions in paragraph (a) above, no

option may be granted to a Director on any day on

which financial results of our Company are published:

during the period of 60 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the annual
results or, if shorter, the period from the end of
the relevant financial year up to the publication
date of the results; and

during the period of 30 days immediately
preceding the publication date of the quarterly
results and half-year results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant quarterly or
half-year period up to the publication date of
the results.
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Q)

(K)

(L)
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Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as
the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years
from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

Performance targets

Save as determined by the Board and provided in the offer
of the grant of the relevant options, there is no
performance target which must be achieved before any of
the options can be exercised.

Ranking of Shares

Our Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option
will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles for the
time being in force and will rank pari passu in all respects
with our fully paid Shares in issue on the date of allotment
and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate in all
dividends or other distributions paid or made after the
date of allotment other than any dividend or other
distribution previously declared or recommended or
resolved to be paid or made with respect to a record date
which shall be on or before the date of allotment, save that
our Shares allotted upon the exercise of any option shall
not carry any voting rights until the name of the grantee
has been duly entered on the register of members of our
Company as the holder thereof.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option shall not be transferable or assignable and shall
be personal to the grantee of the option.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

U

Q)

(K)

(L)

1T R AV EFIR

AR RNES G A EERHE -
be B AR 15 B A R At I O IR AT (B 1B
Pt EZHMETBEAR L AH
105 - WX BRATERTA L KX
FTARIR -

REBR

AR AT o BB B A — 8L
BEKREARRBAE BRIFEFE
RBERE  UNABEBRENE D
ZHEHFTEH -

R A7 st 432

PR 77 {66 8 P %5 288 i B O BC 0 76 52
2R EROARRT A GRXER - I
A& HERLSBMERTHEK
NEBRSHEZR  FILFBEABE
B2 EN R A BR AN RER
B R B EAM DK - R EH
HAfE AC % B Hisk 2 AT AT B R 3 K
R K ST AR R E IR B Sk
H A 73 TR BRI o RT3 fr) i P
i BC B H AL D 1 A & I S ETIR R
B BEEARANMERELNZLA
R BIBCR £ i R A B A 1 55
BARBLE-

RAEAEABARE
BRI AR E AR A BA A -
i T ETEE



Directors’ Report
EEEHREE

(M) Rights on cessation of employment by death

(N)

In the event of the death of the grantee (provided that
none of the events which would be a ground for
termination of employment referred to in (N) below arises
within a period of three years prior to the death, in the
case the grantee is an employee at the date of grant), the
legal personal representative(s) of the grantee may
exercise the option up to the grantee’s entitlement (to the
extent which has become exercisable and not already
exercised) within a period of 12 months following his death
provided that where any of the events referred to in (Q), (R)
and (S) occurs prior to his death or within such period of 12
months following his death, then his legal personal
representative(s) may so exercise the option within such of
the various periods respectively set out therein.

Rights on cessation of employment by dismissal

In the event that the grantee is an employee of our Group
at the date of grant and he subsequently ceases to be an
employee of our Group on any one or more of the grounds
that he has been guilty of serious misconduct, or has
committed an act of bankruptcy or has become insolvent
or has made any arrangement or composition with his or
her creditors generally, or has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty or (if so
determined by the Board) on any other ground on which
an employer would be entitled to terminate his
employment at common law or pursuant to any applicable
laws or under the grantee’s service contract with our
Group, his option shall lapse automatically (to the extent
not already exercised) on the date of cessation of his
employment with our Group.
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(O) Rights on cessation of employment for other

(P)

54

reasons

In the event that the grantee is an employee, a consultant
or an adviser (as the case may be) of member of our Group
at the date of grant and he subsequently ceases to be an
employee, a consultant or an adviser (as the case may be)
of our Group for any reason other than his death or the
termination of his employment of an employee or
engagement of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may
be) on one or more of the grounds specified in (N) above,
the option (to the extent not already lapsed or exercised)
shall lapse on the expiry of three months after the date of
cessation of such employment of an employee or
engagement of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may
be) (which date will be in the case of an employee the last
actual working day, on which the grantee was physically at
work with our Company or the relevant member of our
Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not, and in
the case of a consultant or an adviser (as the case may be),
the last actual day of providing consultancy or advisory
services to the relevant member of our Group).

Effects of alterations to share capital

In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company whilst any option remains exercisable, whether
by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issue,
open offer, consolidation, subdivision or reduction of the
share capital of our Company (other than an issue of
Shares as consideration in respect of a transaction to which
any member of our Group is a party), such corresponding
adjustments (if any) shall be made in the number of Shares
subject to the option so far as unexercised; and/or the
subscription prices, as the auditors of or independent
financial adviser to our Company shall certify or confirm in
writing (as the case may be) to the Board to be in their
opinion fair and reasonable in compliance with the relevant
provisions of the GEM Listing Rules, or any guideline or
supplemental guideline issued by the Stock Exchange
from time to time, provided that any alteration shall give a
grantee, as near as possible, the same proportion of the
issued share capital of our Company as that to which he
was previously entitled, but no adjustment shall be made
to the effect of which would be to enable a Share to be
issued at less than its nominal value.
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(Q) Rights on a general offer

(R)

In the event of a general offer (whether by way of takeover
offer or scheme of arrangement or otherwise in like
manner) being made to all our shareholders (or all such
holders other than the offeror and/or any persons
controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting in
association or concert with the offeror) and such offer
becoming or being declared unconditional, the grantee
(or, as the case may be, his legal personal representative(s))
shall be entitled to exercise the option in full (to the extent
not already lapsed or exercised) at any time within one
month after the date on which the offer becomes or is
declared unconditional.

Rights on winding-up

In the event a notice is given by our Company to our
members to convene a general meeting for the purposes
of considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution to
voluntarily wind-up our Company, our Company shall on
the same date as or soon after it despatches such notice to
each member of our Company give notice thereof to all
grantees and thereupon, each grantee (or, as the case may
be, his legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled to
exercise all or any of his options at any time not later than
two business days prior to the proposed general meeting
of our Company by giving notice in writing to our
Company, accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the aggregate subscription price for our Shares
in respect of which the notice is given whereupon our
Company shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no
later than the business day immediately prior to the date
of the proposed general meeting referred to above, allot
the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as fully paid.
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(S) Rights on compromise or arrangement
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In the event of a compromise or arrangement between our
Company and our shareholders or the creditors of our
Company being proposed in connection with a scheme for
the reconstruction of our Company or its amalgamation
with any other company or companies pursuant to the
Companies Law, our Company shall give notice thereof to
all the grantees (or, as the case may be, their legal personal
representatives) on the same day as it gives notice of the
meeting to our shareholders or the creditors to consider
such a compromise or arrangement and the options (to
the extent not already lapsed or exercised) shall become
exercisable in whole or in part on such date not later than
two business days prior to the date of the general meeting
directed to be convened by the court for the purposes of
considering such compromise or arrangement
(""Suspension Date’’), by giving notice in writing to our
Company accompanied by a remittance for the full amount
of the aggregate subscription price for our Shares in
respect of which the notice is given whereupon our
Company shall as soon as practicable and, in any event, no
later than 3:00 p.m. on the business day immediately prior
to the date of the proposed general meeting, allot and
issue the relevant Shares to the grantee credited as fully
paid. With effect from the Suspension Date, the rights of
all grantees to exercise their respective options shall
forthwith be suspended. Upon such compromise or
arrangement becoming effective, all options shall, to the
extent that they have not been exercised, lapse and
determine. The Board shall endeavour to procure that our
Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options
hereunder shall for the purposes of such compromise or
arrangement form part of the issued share capital of our
Company on the effective date thereof and that such
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Shares shall in all respects be subject to such compromise
or arrangement. If for any reason such compromise or
arrangement is not approved by the court (whether upon
the terms presented to the court or upon any other terms
as may be approved by such court), the rights of grantees
to exercise their respective options shall with effect from
the date of the making of the order by the court be
restored in full but only up to the extent not already
exercised and shall thereupon become exercisable (but
subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme) as
if such compromise or arrangement had not been
proposed by our Company and no claim shall lie against
our Company or any of its officers for any loss or damage
sustained by any grantee as a result of such proposal,
unless any such loss or damage shall have been caused by
the act, neglect, fraud or wilful default on the part of our
Company or any of our officers.

Lapse of options
An option shall lapse automatically on the earliest of:

(i)  the expiry of the period referred to in paragraph (I)
above;

(i) the date on which the Board exercises our Company’s
right to cancel, revoke or terminate the option on the
ground that the grantee commits a breach of
paragraph (L);

(iii) the expiry of the relevant period or the occurrence of
the relevant event referred to in paragraphs (M), (O),
(Q), (R) or (S) above;
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(iv) subject to paragraph (R) above, the date of the

commencement of the winding-up of our Company;

(v)  the occurrence of any act of bankruptcy, insolvency or
entering into of any arrangements or compositions
with his creditors generally by the grantee, or
conviction of the grantee of any criminal offence
involving his integrity or honesty;

where the grantee is only a substantial shareholder of
any member of our Group, the date on which the
grantee ceases to be a substantial shareholder of
such member of our Group; or

(vi) subject to the compromise or arrangement as
referred to in paragraph (S) become effective, the
date on which such compromise or arrangement
becomes effective.

Cancellation of options granted but not yet
exercised

Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised may
be effected on such terms as may be agreed with the
relevant grantee, as the Board may in its absolute
discretion sees fit and in a manner that complies with all
applicable legal requirements for such cancellation.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of ten years commencing on the date on the Adoption
Date and shall expire at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary
thereof unless terminated earlier by the shareholders in
general meeting.
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(W) Alteration to the Share Option Scheme

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any
respect by resolution of the Board except that
alterations of the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme which alters to the advantage of the grantees
of the options relating to matters governed by Rule
23.03 of the GEM Listing Rules shall not be made
except with the prior approval of the shareholders in
general meeting.

Any amendment to any terms and conditions of the
Share Option Scheme which are of a material nature
or any change to the terms of options granted, or any
change to the authority of the Board in respect of
alteration of the Share Option Scheme must be
approved by shareholders in general meeting except
where the alterations take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Any amendment to any terms of the Share Option
Scheme or the options granted shall comply with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules and
the Notes thereto and the supplementary guidance
on the interpretation of the GEM Listing Rules issued
by the Stock Exchange from time to time or any
guidelines issued by the Stock Exchange from time to
time.
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(X) Termination to the Share Option Scheme

Our Company by resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the operation of the
Share Option Scheme and in such event no further options
will be offered but options granted prior to such
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.

(Y) Conditions of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme is conditional upon the Stock
Exchange granting the listing of, and permission to deal in,
our Shares which may be issued pursuant to the exercise
of any options which may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme, and commencement of dealings in the
Shares on the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, no option has been
granted or agreed to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant to the rental agreement dated 1 September 2016
made between Smart Elegant Enterprises Limited (“Smart
Elegant”) and Most Will Limited (“Most Will"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Most Will is entitled to occupy the
premises for the period from 1 September 2016 to 31 August
2019 in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The rental
agreement was renewed for a further three years for a term
from 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2022. Ms. Wong, a former
director of the Company, is interested in this transaction to the
extent that Ms. Wong has equity interests and is a director in
Smart Elegant. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the rental
expenses paid by the Group was HK$2,170,000 (2020:
HK$2,000,000).
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Pursuant to the rental agreement dated 31 October 2018 made
between United Strategy Limited and the Company, the
Company is entitled to occupy the premises for the period from
1 November 2018 to 31 October 2019 in accordance with the
terms of the agreement. The rental agreement was renewed for
a term from 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2020, and 1
November 2020 to 31 October 2021. Ms. Wong, a former
director of the Company, is interested in this transaction to the
extent that Ms. Wong has equity interests and is a director in
United Strategy. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
rental expenses paid by the Group was HK$240,000 (2020:
HK$252,000).

The material related party transactions entered into by our
Group are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements to this annual report.

The transactions constitute as continuing connected
transactions but fully exempted from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual

report are as follows:

Executive directors
Mr. Chow Yik (Chairman)
(appointed on 11 December 2020)
Mr. Chan Lap Ping
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (appointed on 11 December 2020)
Mr. Zhang Chi (removed on 16 December 2020)
Ms. Wong Wai Fong (resigned on 18 December 2020)

Non-executive director
Mr. Wu Jing Xie (appointed on 16 April 2020 and
resigned on 18 December 2020)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew

Mr. Law Yui Lun

Mr. Lu Jun Bo (appointed on 16 April 2020)

Ms. Wong Syndia D (appointed on 18 December 2020)
Mr. Chung Wing Yin (resigned on 8 January 2021)

Pursuant to article 84 of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the "AGM"), each of Mr. Chan Lap Ping and Mr. Law
Yui Lun will retire from office as Director by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Chow Yik, Mr. Tsui
Wing Tak and Ms. Wong Syndia D shall retire from office as
Directors at the AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Chan Lap Ping, being the executive director, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue
thereafter unless terminated by either party giving to the other
not less than three month'’s notice in writing.

Mr. Chow Yik was appointed as an executive director pursuant
to his appointment letter dated 11 December 2020 with no
fixed term of service commencing from 11 December 2020.

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak was appointed as an executive director
pursuant to his appointment letter dated 11 December 2020
with no fixed term of service commencing from 11 December
2020.

Each of Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew and Mr. Law Yui Lun, being
the independent non-executive directors (“INEDs"), has
entered a letter of appointment for a term of one year
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue thereafter
unless terminated by either party giving to the other at least
one month’s notice in writing.

Ms. Wong Syndia D was appointed as an independent non-
executive director pursuant to her appointment letter dated 18
December 2020 for a term of one year commencing from 18
December 2020.

Mr. Lu Jun Bo was appointed as an independent non-executive
director pursuant to his appointment letter dated 16 April 2020
for a term of one year commencing on 16 April 2020.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
INEDs regarding his independence in accordance with Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and therefore considers each of them
to be independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive and
the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in
notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management fell
within the following bands:
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Number of individuals

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 % 7T

4

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Directors and the Management of
the Group are set out on pages 15 to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
None of the Directors or an entity connected with any of the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at any
time during or at the end of the year ended 31 March 2021.

As of 31 March 2021, no contract of significance had been
entered into between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
and the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors confirm that as at the date of the Listing on 15
February 2017 and up to the date of this annual report, there
has been no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s
listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions in which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein (the “Register”), or (c) pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Mr. Chan Lap Ping(Note) Sure Wonder Family interest 18 1.8%
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Note: Mr. Chan Lap Ping, our executive director, is the spouse of Ms. Yang
Dongxiang (“Ms. Yang”) and is deemed to be interested in the shares of
Sure Wonder held by Ms. Yang under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the Register, or were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of substantial
shareholders and other persons in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations

So far as the Directors are aware of, as at the date of this report,
the following persons/entities other than a Director or the chief
executive of the Company had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares, which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
(the “Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or who were directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of the Company:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company REAQATREERNEFR
Number of shares Percentage
Name Capacity/nature of interest held/ interested of interest
BE/BR
8 59/ ERME EEHROSE EZEDH
Sure Wonder (Note) Beneficial owner 393,206,400 27.31%
T (H3E) ERBEEA
Note: Sure Wonder, which holds 393,206,400 Shares, is owned as to 83.4% by izt : EP#55E393,206,40008 1) - MERF L L -

Ms. Wong Wai Fong, 9.3% by Mr. Kwok Yiu Chung, 5.5% by Mr. Hui
Chung Wah and 1.8% by Ms. Yang. As Ms. Wong is entitled to exercise
more than one-third of the voting power at general meetings of Sure
Wonder, Ms. Wong is taken to be interested in the 393,206,400 Shares in
which Sure Wonder is interested under the SFO.
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So far as the Directors are aware of, save as disclosed above, as
at the date of this report, the Directors were not aware of any
other persons who/entities which were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the issued voting shares of the
Company, and had any interest or short position: (i) in the
shares or underlying shares that would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO; or (ii) which would be recorded in the Substantial
Shareholders’ Register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the
Directors were not aware of any persons who had any interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares that would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’ Register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Director is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has no major customers due to the nature of
principal activities of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, purchases from our five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 36.3% (2020:
44.1%) of our total purchases of raw materials and consumables
consumed. During the same year, purchases from our largest
supplier accounted for approximately 8.8% (2020: 12.1%) of our
total purchase of materials and consumables. None of the
Directors, their respective close associates, or any shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
significant beneficial interest in the major customers and
suppliers disclosed above.
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Our Directors believe that our Group maintains good working
relations with its business partners and it endeavours to improve
the quality of services to customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of
the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under
the laws of the Cayman Islands or the Articles of Association
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Article and Association, the
Directors of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices, or trusts. Such provisions were in force throughout the
year ended 31 March 2021 and are currently in force. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ Liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be
brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations of our hotpot restaurants in Hong Kong are
subject to environmental protection laws and regulations
promulgated by the government of Hong Kong. The Group has
devoted operating and financial resources to environmental
compliance as required by Hong Kong laws and regulations in
the future. Apart from the daily cleaning procedures adopted
by each of our hotpot restaurants, our Group also engaged
external cleaning companies, which are independent third
parties, to provide regular services for us, including pest control,
garbage collection, carpet cleaning, aquarium cleaning and
grease tank cleaning. The Group has also implemented policies
to ensure that there is minimal waste from our business
operations. For example, we equipped our hotpot restaurants
with a multi-functional food washer to minimise the use of
water. In addition, we also pay a sewage services charge which
comprises a sewage charge and a trade effluent surcharge and
the charge is based on the amount of water used. The sewage
services charges were not exceeding HK$100,000 (2020:
approximately HK$100,000) during the year ended 31 March
2021. Our Directors are of the opinion that the cost of
compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations for the year ended 31 March 2021 to be immaterial.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A separate environmental, social and governance report is
expected to be published on the Stock Exchange's website and
the Company's website no later than five months after end of
the financial year.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Wednesday, 14 July 2021 to Tuesday, 20 July
2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the
shares will be registered. Shareholders are reminded to ensure
that all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited,
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338
King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m.
on Tuesday, 13 July 2021.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 May 2021, all the conditions precedent and the relevant
terms and condition set out in the Equity Transfer Agreement
have been fulfilled and completion of the Acquisition (the
"Completion”) took place.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-
appointment as auditors of the Company. A resolution for the
appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the
auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chow Yik
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 10 June 2021
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B &t %A RAE
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CBK
Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to
175, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS HREREE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FHEEZEFHLBESSNEEHE &
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the ZTEHEEZAPGAEFERERFZAZTENSE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 18 - W ZEEENEEEREAMBRER
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the FhItHEERE—HEIE  EZE123 0t
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming SZEEXR2{TIRMHEER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEE2BERIFNNEERARERSER

Key audit matter
HREZEE

Revenue recognition from the Group'’s restaurants operations
e BEXEEEZLENWE

Refer to Note 7 to the consolidated financial

statements.

S2RIRAMEHRERMEET -

We identified revenue recognition from Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from

restaurants operations as a key audit matter restaurants operations including but not limited to:
as revenue recognition is quantitatively ESpKEERLENRGEERNEFRFETRER
significant to the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive e  Obtaining an understanding of the Group's revenue

income and material revenue transactions
may occur close to the end of the reporting
period.

FEEENEBERZEERAERBN SERE
REE AR aEREFEeBEmzHEME
EWzmEMEHFEKR - ARBRII®RERR

recognition policy for the Group's restaurants

operations;
TR BESEZEEEN BERBEWNEERECK

Obtaining an understanding of the revenue business
processes and key controls for validity of revenue

AREEEEANRRS - recognition from restaurants operations; and

o  THWSRKERFLTIEER  UWKBEERZEME
REE R

e Verifying the revenue from restaurants operations by
tracing revenue recognised for restaurants
operations to daily sales reports and cash receipts
and credit card settlements, on a sample basis.

o FEMERLERINKRMEEHRSHHEEREN
MRSWR R ERREE  REZREEENWES -

We found that the amount and timing of the revenue
recognition to be supportable by available evidence.

EEER RN R SR LERA TS 2 /B8 X -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HREZEE

BERFXEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEErERIFNNEERREREE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

WE BERREUREHELERE
Refer to Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

2B B RKRMIFEI5 R 16 °

We identified the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
as a key audit matter due to the significance
of the balance on the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2021 and
the significant judgment and estimates were
involved in assessment of the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets based on value-in-use
calculations.

EEERYE BMEERBANEREEE
BB R RREREZER - RE TR 2021 F
SANAZEAMBURARBEHRER MR
BEMEBEFEDEIEYE  BEMKREB
AREREEEN AN E S ERP REAH
i 2 fhEt e

The management has concluded impairment
loss in respect of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$1,302,000 and HK$3,685,000 was recognised
respectively.

EEENERACERYE  BEMREA
K AE R EREEE S R4)1,302,00078 7T
5 3,685,000 7T °

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment including but not limited to:

BEEREEEREMGETHNEFBERETRR

e Evaluating the assumptions underpinning the
discounted cash flow models, including discount
rates by comparing rates used by other comparable
companies and revenue growth rates by reference
to the budget of the Group;

o FHMEMBRRERERLNRKRR  BREOBEMAEL
RAREANBER PRELE2E EEEREN
e R®

e  Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used by management based on our
industry knowledge and relevant market practice;

o WREEFTEMANMEETSEN  ZREREEMN
HEENEE T

e  Evaluating the historical accuracy of the forecasted
future cash flows by comparing them to actual
results in the current period and understanding the
causes for significant variances, if any; and

o FBBKBAHBEMNERXENTHIBEEAEL (W
B) WREA - FHETRRIRRIR SR E 8 E L W
&

e Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o  IHWMEEEREMEMRBABURNERN LERIE -

We found that the key assumptions used by management
in the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to be supportable by
available evidence.

EFEREEEARDE BMELERBAREREEEN
RE RS R BRRR (RAR A P BIS 2 AR SR ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, but does not include in the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error; design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks; and, obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Ng Ka Wah.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ka Wah
Practising Certificate Number: P06417

Hong Kong, 10 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEaRkREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FET FHET
Revenue Wz 7 12,634 43,024
Cost of inventories sold BEEREKA (6,781) (19,016)
Gross profit EA 5,853 24,008
Other revenue, other gain and loss  E Al zs « E s e & E5 18 8 9,621 2,651
Staff costs B IR (7,656) (15,265)
Depreciation e (3,502) (14,943)
Property rentals and MER S RAEBRX
related expenses (531) (2,934)
Fuel and utility expenses Y RS YN E (658) (1,975)
Impairment loss recognised in ME - HEREFEER
respect of property, plant RIEEE
and equipment 10 (1,302) (260)
Impairment loss recognised in TEAREEERER
respect of right-of-use assets EE R 10 (3,685) (8,917)
Administrative expenses TR (7,863) (14,167)
Finance cost BhE AR 9 (472) (1,081)
Loss before tax PR A E 1R 10 (10,195) (32,883)
Income tax expense FT1SHF X2 13 (111) -
Loss for the year and total FABERFAZAER
comprehensive loss for the year #%8 (10,3006) (32,883)
Loss for the year and total UTREREFREE
comprehensive loss for the year REXNZEEBELEE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KNANRIER A (9,940) (32,883)
Non-controlling interests SRR E = (366) -
(10,306) (32,883)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARR#E GBI 14 (0.80) (2.74)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR R

As at 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H

2021 2020
2021 F 2020 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FExT FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MRS 15 2,564 2,486
Right-of-use assets FHBEEE 16 4,857 4,489
Deposit paid for acquisition of WHEKTE AR E iR
a subsidiary 35 5,000 -
Non-current deposits JERNHRZ & 19 2,470 2,252
14,891 9,227
Current assets REEE
Inventories Fg 17 56 24
Trade receivables 2 5 EWGIE 18 111 5
Deposits, prepayments and e BRFREREAM
other receivables FE FR TR 19 3,665 4,975
Amount due from non- JFE LS FE4ZE R 2 K 1B
controlling interest 20 1,296 -
Cash and cash equivalents HWENIREEEBY 21 17,265 34,091
22,393 39,095
Current liabilities RBERE
Trade payables %’%}Eﬁm 22 1,372 435
Accruals and other payables FE+E B & E b fE{TFRIE 23 4,892 6,727
Amount due to a related company FH Bl NGIE O] 20 - 33
Lease liabilities ME&RE 16 1,842 5,839
8,106 13,034
Net current assets RBEEFE 14,287 26,061
Total assets less current liabilities BEZBERABERE 29,178 35,288
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 2,858 7,724
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEEE 24 111 _
2,969 7,724
Net assets EEEE 26,209 27,564
B ER AR AR /2021 FFH 79



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR R

As at 31 March 2021 7202143 A31H

2021 2020
2021 % 2020F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
tiEsd THET FAET
Capital and reserves EXR#E

Share capital A& 2 25 14,400 12,000
Reserves fE 9,975 15,564

Equity attributable to owners NARIHEE ANELER
of the Company 24,375 27,564
Non-controlling interests FEFEIE R 1,834 -
Total equity ERAE 26,209 27,564

The consolidated financial statements were approved and #ZA M EBRERZ N 2021F6A 108 EE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 10 June 2021 E&#t/E MIRETIEE » WLH T ALK

and are signed on its behalf by: BE
Chow Yik Chan Lap Ping
55k B 32
Director Director
BF EBF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these F&EMI 25T RZFERE MR 2 EAED

consolidated financial statements. 5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANAEAARLRE
Non-
Share Share Merger Accumulated Sub-  controlling Total
capital  premium reserve losses total  interests equity
2R
Bx  ROEE  AHRHE  RiER it BE  BRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TEr TEr TEr TiEn TiEn
(Note)
(BE)
At 1 April 2019 R019F4 A 18 12,000 56,198 591 (8,342) 60,447 - 60,447
Loss for the yearand total ~~ FREERER
comprehensive loss TEFRLE
for the year - - - (32,883 (32,883 - (32,883)
At 31 March 2020 and RANF3IANER
1 April 2020 X0F4A1H 12,000 56,198 591 (41,225) 21,564 - 21,564
Capital injection from NG el o
non-controlling interests 1E
of a subsidliary - - - - - 2,200 2,200
Lossforthe yearandtotal ~ FREERENZA
comprehensive loss e
for the year - - - (9,940) (9,940) (366) (10,306)
Proceeds fromplacingof ~ BLEFRGFIEHIE
new shares (Note 29) (Kt 25) 2,400 4,560 - - 6,960 - 6,960
lssuing expenses of placing R EFRHNET
of new shares (Note 25) B (zE25) - (209 - - (209 - (209
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A31H 14,400 60,549 591 (51,165) 24,375 1,834 26,209
Note: BT

The merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of

the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result of the reorganisation

and the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange

thereof.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
hE=s FET TET
Cash flows from RETHHEESRE
operating activities
Loss before tax MR F7 R EHE (10,195) (32,883)
Adjustments for: HAT BB
Finance cost RE A AR 9 472 1,081
Bank interest income RITH B U A 8 (82) (362)
Impairment loss recognised in MY - BE L& E
respect of property, plant R EE B
and equipment 10 1,302 260
Impairment loss recognised in TEFREEEREDR
respect of right-of-use assets AR R 10 3,685 8,917
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME  BENKE
plant and equipment Wz 8 (6) (321)
Gain on transfer of license MR EE RS U 25 8 - (200)
Loss on written-off of property, WM - BE R&E
plant and equipment E518 10 821 6,149
Depreciation of property, plant M RE NREITE
and equipment 10 768 3,276
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREZEEITE 10 2,733 11,667
(Gain)/loss on lease modifications ~ FAE{&5] (Uhzs) 18 10 (6,291) 179
Covid-19-related rent concessions FATEANFES — B9
HeER 8 (306) (834)
Operating cash flows before LEECEHRILE
movements in working capital WERh=E (7,099) (3,071)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  7& (3&H1) F (32) 210
(Increase)/decrease in E Sl
trade receivables (hn) E (106) 501
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, %4 - FBRIE R E A fE
prepayments and WeskaE (g hn) R A
other receivables (1,464) 1,517
Decrease in amount due from el NG E O]
a related company ERAD - 51
(Decrease)/increase in amount due  JE —ERFEE A B FIE
to a related company CRid), /18 (33) 33
Increase/(decrease) in 25 ENIA
trade payables Gl 937 (1,556)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals and JEET & A K& H i BT ZNIE
other payables CR) /8 hn (4,139) 3,203
Cash (used in)/generated B (FrA),/ PB4
from operations (11,936) 888
Tax refund Y EIp = = 328
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THTT
Net cash (used in)/generated from L& 58 (FrH), 8
operating activities BHEeFRE (11,936) 1,216
Cash flows from RETHRERE
investing activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BB BB A A = -
Interest received 2 U F B 82 358
Proceed from transfer of license Hﬁ,\\\i%ﬁﬁf—gﬁﬂ - 200
Proceed from disposal of property, H&E#E - JE’S('};E%& %15
plant and equipment FriS s 22 620
Purchases of property, plant = \%% JE’S('};E%& ]
and equipment (2,835) (2,247)
Deposit paid for acquisition of WENBARMNEES
a subsidiary (5,000) -
Net cash used in RETZBHMARESFHE
investing activities (7,731) (1,069)
Cash flows from RMETHRERE
financing activities
Proceeds from placing of new Be & #T IR (0 FT 1S 58
shares 6,960 -
Issuing expenses of placing of new Bl &A% 7 HIZE 1T X
shares (209) -
Payments of lease liabilities fﬂf}\%ﬁﬁ (4,814) (11,522)
Capital injection from RS E
non-controlling interests 2,200 -
Increase in amount due from JE T FE2E A R 2 TR TE 1 0
non-controlling interest (1,296) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) B & EEFT18 (FTH)
financing activities N4 FEEE 2,841 (11,522)
Net decrease in cash and ReRREEEBYHI FH
cash equivalents (16,826) (11,375)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHRERELZEY
beginning of the year 34,091 45,466
Cash and cash equivalents at the FREERBELEZEY
end of the year 17,265 34,091
*  The amount is less than HK$1,000. * FED1,00087T ©
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  BEFT Z BisEBAK L E4R A B IS HRER 2 — 26
consolidated financial statements. (vl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

84

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
8 September 2016 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its
ultimate holding company is Sure Wonder Investments
Limited ("Sure Wonder"), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"”) and owned by Ms. Wong Wai
Fong (“Ms. Wong”), Mr. Kwok Yiu Chung (“Mr. Kwok"),
and Ms. Yang Dongxiang and Mr. Hui Chun Wah
(collectively referred to as the "Controlling
Shareholders”). The address of the Company'’s registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
is located at Room 1501, 15/F., Vanta Industrial Centre, 21—
33 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on Growth Enterprises
Market ("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding and the Group is
principally engaged in provision of catering services in
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar ("HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company, and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousands ("HK$'000"), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or before 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of Material

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group has early applied HKFRS 16
(Amendments) Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

2.

86

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The Group has applied the amendment in the current year.
The amendment introduces a new practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to assess whether a Covid-19-related
rent concession is a lease modification. In April 2021, the
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
(the 2021 amendment) was issued, which extended the
availability of the practical expedient in paragraph 46A of
HKFRS 16 by one year. The 2021 amendment resulted in
the practical expedient applying to rent concessions for
which any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
provided the other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The practical expedient only applies to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 that meets all the following conditions:

2.

ERAHITEBMERSEAR
((EBMBEREERN ) REE
HE:NE)
REERAEBVEREERAZE
1655 (BETAR) FEBRHESE —
ERESERNEE
REBERAFERBZIEE ° %
BRI RAEEASI AR ITERES
F o EENTHIAEMRES —
ERHeERELAHEEE - KX
202147 - B8 720216 A30H
‘A SRS — B@EESER
(2021 FIEE] ) &L E B - Hi5H
B EmEERF 169 FE 46AR P
MR fTEE R EAMER —F -
2021 FEFIAEBEARE S ER
WA ITRERE MHEENREE
AR EgFERENR202F6
R308RI BB 3K - ATIRZE
A ERAI TR S AR MG o
ZATEEREEEARNMEUT
FrERENFAERRESEEZSI®
ZHEER

e the change in lease payments results in revised s MEMNREHEIHEMNLE
consideration for the lease that is substantially the SIREBHEZEEFHINHEER

same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

® any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022;
and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on early application of Amendment to
HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
(Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes were not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in
the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The rent concessions recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income during the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$306,000 (2020: HK$834,000).

FERAMIEREMBHREEA
([EFEMBRELE D REB
RAS ()
REEREBMBREERAUSE
165 (ERT X)) B BMREE —
EREEERRNTE(E)
ERAIITRETEZSEEEREHR
A B SR ) A BR R A A S A
Al — 75 3\ 18 R B 78 B % o o5 2 A
F16RHEMHE AR (MBI 3F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

2.

88

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments'
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 Reform — Phase 23
and HKFRS 16
(Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

HKAS 1 (Amendments)  Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)’

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

3. FEVBBRNEREERE
EERTEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3.

90

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group which qualifies as business combination,
except for those acquisitions which qualify as a
common control combination and are therefore
accounted for using the merger accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting,
subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange and, all acquisition-related costs are
expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LZABBERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LZABBERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity therein,
which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 April 2020, the Group can elect to
apply an optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The
concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in
a single identifiable asset or group of similar
identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax
assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to
be a business and no further assessment is needed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exceptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquire or
share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date;

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

® lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Separate financial statements (Continued)
Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after the property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repair and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that
the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the property, plant and equipment,
the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of
that asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates
are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of

lease terms or 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Catering and other equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 30%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its properly, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
("CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If
such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of
CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated selling
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price for inventories less all costs necessary to make EEREEFRIBENANETE °
the sale.
Financial instruments TRITA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments

THEENEREBENESRH
ERXNABTEEHNBEXHETL
FEER -FMEATSMEE
EEAXLSHBERALRKILE
Re BREEREAETEMSHA
BRI EMRRARIKEE
WEeRMEEEE °

BREFALNMEE S ERE
M RBEEAY B HRELERS
15T 2 SREERSR
BESZVUNRAFEFZ - AR
%I% TeMEERSHAR
MEBEELENR DK AREIX
BREFIEESHEERER
BEMNATFEXEBZSEEN
B (an@Em) -

ERMEEZNAESREES
TRBENEIEKARIZEH
HARE o0 N B R A B R X
BJ705 - BERFIR RS H#R
FizeBEEXTRBENR
sHFEHIEK (nE ) B0 HI A 2
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form an integral part of the effective interest rate, (@%}iﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬁﬁﬁilj AR RK
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) DHENHE WE B KB

through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LZABBERENGEREERF

104

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT FEFBER &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEETHE(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRT A (%)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE(B)
Impairment of financial assets SRIEERE

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, amount due from non-controlling interest
and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at the end of each reporting period to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting period as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
credit card trade receivables and collectively for
corporate customers using a provision matrix with
past due status grouping.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the end of the reporting
period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

® an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LZABBERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EGHBE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) EESFHEE(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRT A (%)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEE(B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) oA E R E ()
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) fo e AEIE hn (48)

* an actual or expected significant BRAKLEEENE
deterioration in the operating results of the R RERERE B
debtor; or B9

e an actual or expected significant adverse o BHEBEMARBITER
change in the regulatory, economic, or BEESNR AR T
technological environment of the debtor REBAEE - &
that results in a significant decrease in the BRI IR IR A BB
debtor’ s ability to meet its debt S TEE R E TN
obligations. g o

Irrespective of the outcome of the above Tim i EER MM - A%

assessment, the Group presumes that the credit E R a& & 4 58 EiE 8 30 B

risk has increased significantly since initial BIZE R B 1) R A K AR

recognition when contractual payments are EZ2EH BRIELAEBFLAEX

more than 30 days past due, unless the Group BRI ERSAEAMER o

has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

106

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Z!&EIEHHW ARBNEE

[2. B A= 7 KM 15 00 B 2E Bl 5 Ak
I“_rL WHEEEBRTIELE
5] AR % E R gE £ RUE A
HIRE R EEERKRE KIS
e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

108

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over one year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(vy Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of each
group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including amount due to a related
company, trade payables, accruals and other
payables (excluding receipt in advance) and lease
liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #A4 B BRENGEREER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ESITEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) EESFBER(E)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRT A (%)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments THEERKRETA(E)
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities HIFBEREME R

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying
amount of the relevant financial liabilities will be
calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities" original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
Control of the good or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the good or
service is transferred over time if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a
product or service to a customer.

Revenue from restaurants operations

The Group recognises revenue from restaurants
operations which provides catering services. Revenue
from restaurants operations is recognised at a point
in time when the services are rendered. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the services are
rendered to the customers at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)

114

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LA RENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EGHBE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
Leases (Continued) mE®E)
The Group as a lessee AEEERAHAA

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, machinery and
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEgTEE®@E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) EESFTBER(B)
Leases (Continued) HE(®E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEFERRAA (&)
Right-of-use assets EHREEE

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

e  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities
resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:
e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #4BBRENGEREEER T
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ESITEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) EESFHBER(E)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)

118

Leases (Continued) mE®E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBERAHEA (B)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEBE(E)

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modification
Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease

if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBE®E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) EESFTBER(B)
Leases (Continued) HE(®E)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERABEA (B)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

e  there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to
reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

HEBRRE — BRHEZ B
REHFUTREESREERE
EELANBESRERME A&
BEZEREmE NIRRT
M A TR ETHEAE
AEEH I AHEEER

HEMNREHEFHENZE
RIREEERZEHHNHEER
EBERNHERKBERD

HEMZMENE  EexE
B 120224 6 A 30 H 5 2 Al
BIHAM R &

Hi A E R G R EE
PEEEE, -

FERATEEDNESEE R
EYWHEENKEE AR K
HABAR - AR EAEL
MERMEENE16HNEFH A
RUWZSHAIFHEEER) - H
ENRNRRXIMRIERTE
HEMTKAK- - HAMEERE
RABARBRERS R RN
B YRREMABRLHERA
AR R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
Salaries, annual bonuses and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in
which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Retirement benefit obligation scheme

Payment to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF Scheme") is recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions. The Group operates a MPF Scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in
separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, with the employers’ contributions subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group's contributions to the scheme are expensed as
incurred and vested in accordance with the scheme's
vesting scales. Where employees leave the scheme
prior to the full vesting of the employer’s
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is
used to reduce the contributions payable by the
Group.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising
from the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable to the funds
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

TEREFEERE)

BEER

G H1E 8 ta 7

¥ o FERAKIFEEEREN
R AR A R B 12 (AR B AR 75
EEAMEI AT & o (B S Rk A
EMERERTE  BZFE
BMIRHBRESE -

BIKEFIE L E

FEsEAEE S ([ BEE
sHE ) B R B B 1R AR S
&M & BEA B R B
RHER R - NEBIZEB
R ATE R E BIERD RZF
REBRBIGRIREERAR
EHEBREHERESE - 8
et B AR EHRREE - H
BEHRBYEAEEESRHHA

BIEEESE BEREE
B BELEEHEBRASLT
L BImETEIE L K - MiEE
HEMETARBKRA LRI A
30,0007 7T o AN & B [A) 5T 8 1E
HERERREER S IR
BN EBRIERS - HE
BREFEHFEZEEBIRLY
ETE - RM MRS EERAE
B A SEE R ERAHEER -

RBm MR RESEIME
R RE N R B R g AN R E
WAt SR BIFAT R R A ES
E TS E R -

BB R AR /2021 FFR 121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)

122

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Governments grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other revenue, other
gain and loss”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For lease transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. 4 ABEREMNGREER X
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEHREE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's most
senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HZABERENGEREERF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT EEBEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued) (b) FEEFBER(E)
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Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the
dividend is approved by shareholders of the
Company.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c0 dependants of the person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between the Group and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment are
HK$4,857,000 and HK$2,564,000 (2020: HK$4,489,000 and
HK$2,486,000) respectively. Details of the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong.
Significant judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
year in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and
unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. €T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EMITEEH
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Financial assets tREE
Amortised cost: B -
— Trade receivables — B FEWFIA 111 S5
— Deposits and other receivables — & & & H b fE UL I8 3,847 6,546
— Deposit paid for acquisition of — WHEMIBARNENIEZE
a subsidiary 5,000 -
— Amount due from — FEYEEE IR = R
non-controlling interest 1,296 -
— Cash and cash equivalents — IRENIREEEY 17,265 34,091
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Amortised cost: BESHRI AN -
— Trade payables — B HRNHKIE 1,372 435
— Accruals and other payables — BT ER L E M ENFIE 4,892 6,727
— Amount due to a related — B — MR A RIFRIE
company = 33
— Lease liabilities —HEBE 4,700 13,563
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5.

132

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits, other receivables, amount due
from non-controlling interest, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amount due to a related company and
lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments for
the Group are disclosed in respective notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The directors manage and
monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

There has been no change to the types of the
Group's exposure in respect of financial instruments
or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risks.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances. The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on bank balances and Hong Kong prime
rate. No sensitivity analysis was prepared for bank
balances as the financial impact arising on changes in
interest rates was minimal due to limited changes in
interest rate. The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group's
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits, other receivables, amount
due from non-controlling interest and cash and cash
equivalents. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables

The Group provided catering services to a large
number of individual customer and mainly settled by
cash and credit card. In view of the Group's
operation, the Group's trade receivables are primarily
credit card trade receivables. The directors consider
the credit risk is insignificant.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customer operates and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk only arise if the Group
has significant exposure to individual customer. At 31
March 2021 and 2020, no individual customer with
whom balance has exceeded 10% of the Group's
trade receivables.
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5.

134

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables

The management of the Group makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of deposits and other
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

Amount due from non-controlling interest

The Group had advance to non-controlling interest as
at 31 March 2021. The management regularly
monitors the credit quality and financial positions of
the counterparties and the level of exposure to
ensure that the follow-up action is taken to recover
the debts. The management believes that there is no
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group deposited its cash with approved and
reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the
banks may cause the Group's right with respect to
cash and cash equivalents held to be delayed or
limited. The directors monitor the credit rating of
these banks on an ongoing basis, and considers that
the Group's exposure to credit risk were minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, no loss allowance for ECL
on the Group's trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amount due from non-controlling interest
and cash and cash equivalents was recognised as the
amounts are insignificant.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate cash and cash equivalents, monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and financial
liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by
the management. The management will raise bank
borrowings whenever necessary.

The following table shows the details of the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date, on which the
Group can be required to pay. The amounts disclosed
in the table are based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, are as follows:
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b) tRERREEENREE
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More than
Effective Within 1 year but Total
interest 1 year or less than  undiscounted Carrying
rate ondemand 5 years cash flows amounts
—FRg BE-F  AMEES
BRAZ BEX BRI hEAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
At 31 March 2021 R2021%3A318
Non-derivative financial liabilities {74 & RME S
Trade payables BIENE - 1,372 - 1,372 1,372
Accruals and other payables S BRREMENE - 4,892 - 4,892 4,892
Lease liabilities HERE 5.31 2,040 3,148 5,188 4,700
8,304 3,148 11,452 10,964
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. 2@ A®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) tREREEENREE
policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEERM (&)
More than
Effective Within 1 year but Total
interest 1 year or lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
rate on demand 5 years cash flows amounts
—ERF Bh—F  REEHe
-y BEK  BEIRRE MERE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TEL TAT
At 31 March 2020 R2020E3A318
Non-derivative financial lisbilities ~ 3E474 2 BB &
Trade payables EC] AR - 435 - 435 435
Accruals and other payables Bzt B R EMEMFE - 6,727 - 6,727 6,727
Amount due to a related company B — B A 7)ZUA - 3 - 3 3
Lease liabilities HERRE 538 6,404 8,077 14,481 13,563
13599 8,077 21,676 20,758
(c) Fair value of financial assets and financial () UFRAFEFTENEEME
liabilities that are not measured at fair value EREmEBENAFE
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 72021 4F & 20203 H31H -
liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially RHHEKAARNSREEN
different from their fair values at 31 March 2021 and SREBENEEREREATE
2020. WEEBAER -
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amounts of dividend paid
to the shareholders, return on capital to the
shareholders or issue of new shares or repurchase of
existing shares as well as issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The Group has adopted a capital policy primarily not
to finance its operation through borrowings. Based
on the Group's policy, the gearing ratio at the end of
the reporting period was Nil (2020: Nil).
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of food
catering services through restaurants operations in Hong
Kong. Information reported to the Group’s management
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group's resources are integrated.
Accordingly, no other discrete financial information is
provided other than the Group's results and financial
position as a whole.

The Group’s management makes decisions according to
operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
asset and segment liability is presented as the Group's
management does not regularly review such information
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all
derived in Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

Non-current assets are all located in Hong Kong as at 31
March 2021 and 2020.

No individual customer contributes over 10% of the
revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

42035 K}
AEBNEIEXEBRRELBBE
BEGREERRS R AKE
BR&ET HALAKEEEEZR
UMD EERLFERRNEHE
ERAEEBEBREEES - Bt
PR E M BB XA R BRI -
I IR L E A B LW TS EHYL o

AEEEEERESDMNEER
BIEHAR R AEBEEEREY

BETMERERENIMEERDE
MERBEFG BUB2I D MEE
RDEF BB ©

HZE 20214 %2020 3831 B IEF
B AEERAIINTIETFEHIKZEY
EEREBE ©

R20214F K20203A31H © 3R
FEEHEILRES °

HE 20214 202038310 IEE
B BEREANEFAANEE BB
B10% IS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

7.

REVENUE
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FETT
Type of services: AR EEEZY -
Provision of catering services through REBEBEEEKIZHERK
restaurants operations in Hong Kong  IR7#& 12,634 43,024
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition W7 R EF AT
At a point in time — B FE B 12,634 43,024
Performance obligations for contracts with EFEHNBEHRER

customers

Details of performance obligations for contracts with
customers for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are
set out in Note 3.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All catering services through restaurants operations in
Hong Kong are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

BEE =2021F &2020F3 HA31H
FEEFAANBYETFHES
RMIFES o
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8. OTHER REVENUE, OTHER GAIN AND LOSS 8. Hfttlhz - HttlE REGE

2021 2020
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Government and other subsidies (Note) BT & E b afak (M) 2,850 750
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 82 362
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE&EERE
plant and equipment 6 321
Gain on transfer of license fE R EE L UL ES - 200
Covid-19-related rent concessions A EMRRE —
BEAMESER 306 834
Gain/(loss) on lease modification AEETWs (E8) 6,291 (179)
Others EHh 86 363
9,621 2,651
Note: Pz -
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group recognised HZE2021EM2020E3 831 B ILEE » A&
government grants of approximately HK$2,850,000 and HK$400,000 in E 5 Bl 5t 37 B 58 0A 5% S— 1 B 48 AL FE R T
respect of Covid-19-related subsidies respectively. 1 B4 2,850,000 3% 7T % 600,000 75 7T
9. FINANCE COST 9. WMERK
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEREF R 472 1,081
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10. LOSS BEFORE TAX 10. BREIAIE 18
Loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): B AIERIRIR(GEFA) AT
BIERBSHE
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 £
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEE & -
— Audit services — EZ RIS 300 400
— Non-audit services — BT - -
300 400
Cost of inventories sold BEFERAK 6,781 19,016
Depreciation of property, Y - BB RRETE
plant and equipment (Note 15) (Bf%E15) 768 3,276
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE (ME16)
(Note 16) 2,733 11,667
Impairment loss recognised in respect FL¥IZ -~ = MR EHER
of property, plant and equipment BB EE (FisE15)
(Note 15) 1,302 260
Impairment loss recognised in respect FL{# A #E & E R
of right-of-use assets (Note 16) EEEE (M 16) 3,685 8,917
Loss on written-off of property, MBI - BB MR EEE
plant and equipment (Note 15) (B%E15) 821 6,149
Short-term lease payments BHEARE N 72 950
Employee benefit expenses EERMNAS (TBEER
(excluding directors’ remuneration): ) :
— Salaries, allowances, bonuses and — ¥ % « 28L - JEAL K&
benefits in kind EW@EN 7,240 12,833
— Staff benefits —BTIEMN 132 118
— Retirement benefit scheme — RRBAIET SR
contributions 284 504
7,656 13,455
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
REMUNERATION

142

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

The remuneration of directors and chief executives were

set out below:

M. EERITRARMNE

EERTRAHEMEESINT

Year ended 31 March 2021
BZ2021F3A31HILEE

Salaries,

allowance, Retirement
bonuses benefit
Directors’  and benefits scheme
fees inkind  contribution Total
ge-
)=1: 00 A1 RARER
EEne RENEA HE 3 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEr
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Wong Wai Fong sEsuL((ExL))

("Ms. Wong") (Note (a)) (B2 ) - 224 11 235
Mr. Chan Lap Ping Ry TEE - 154 8 162
Mr. Zhang Chi (Note (b)) oot 55 A (P EE (b)) 17 - - 171
Mr. Chow Yik (Note (c)) Bk () 110 - - 110
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (Note () #RK15 54 (B () 92 - - 92
Non-executive director: FHTES:

Mr. Wu Jing Xie (Note (d)) REBSE () 135 - - 135
Independent non-executive BUFHTEES :
directors:
Mr. Law Yui Lun EBEBtE 126 - - 126
Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew BG4 4 126 = = 126
Mr. Chung Wing Yin (Note (e)) 8k B 504 (Hi5E () 95 - - 95
Mr. Lu Jun Bo (Note (f)) EERETEICE) 96 - - 96
Ms. Wong Syndia D (Note (g) Tt (3t (g) 35 = = 35
Chief executive: THRAR
Mr. Kwok Yiu Chung FRRLE([BRE])
("Mr. Kwok") (Note (h)) (B&E () - 219 " 230
986 597 30 1,613
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 1. EERITHAZME (8)
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020
HE2020F3831ALLFE

Salaries,
allowance, Retirement
bonuses benefit
Directors' and benefits scheme
fees in kind contribution Total
2
AL AL RIKER
EEHE REDREN STEIf @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THL
Executive directors: HTES:
Ms. Wong BRL - 480 18 498
Mr. Chan Lap Ping Ry TEE - 253 13 266
Mr. Zhang Chi (Note (b)) oot 55 A (P EE (b)) 150 - - 150
Non-executive director: FYTES:
Mr. Wu Jing Xie (Note (d)) REGLHE (M () - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTEES :
directors:
Mr. Law Yui Lun EBBLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Chan Hoi Kuen Matthew — [&/8#E5% 4 180 - - 180
Mr. Chung Wing Yin BKERE 180 - - 180
Mr. Lu Jun Bo (Note (f)) R A () - - - -
Chief executive: THRAR
Mr. Kwok s - 339 17 356
690 1,072 48 1,810
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11.

144

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes:

(@)  Ms. Wong has tendered the resignation as executive director of
the Company with effect from 18 December 2020.

(b)  Mr. Zhang Chi has been appointed as the chief executive and
executive director of the Company with effect from 23 April 2019
and 16 August 2019 respectively. Mr. Zhang Chi has been
terminated as the chief executive and executive director with effect
from 23 November 2020.

() Mr. Chow Yik and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak have been appointed as
executive directors of the Company with effect from 11 December
2020.

(d)  Mr. Wu Jing Xie has been appointed as non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 16 April 2020. Mr. Wu Jing Xie has
tendered the resignation as non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 18 December 2020.

(e)  Mr. Chung Wing Yin has tendered the resignation as independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 8 January
2021.

M Mr. Lu Jun Bo has been appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 16 April 2020.

(@ Ms. Wong Syndia D has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 18 December
2020.

(h) Mr. Kwok has tendered the resignation as the chief executive with
effect from 23 November 2020.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and chief executives as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. None of
the directors or chief executives has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

No share options were granted to the directors and chief
executives during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.

Except as disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
ultimate holding company, or any subsidiaries of its
ultimate holding company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year include one (2020: three) directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements. Details of the emoluments for the
year of the remaining four (2020: two) highest paid
employees who are not director or chief executives of the
Company are as follows:

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

12. TEREFHES
FRAAEEREERTINZALE
B—ZEE(2020F: =8EF)
HMESHEBERGEYBHREN T
1Mo FRNBRTEAZ(2020F - WH)
By ES (WIEARRTESHIT
ERARE) F BT ¢

2021 2020
2021 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances, bonuses and e FRBL - A NREYER
benefits in kind 1,349 754

Retirement benefit scheme RINEFIFT SR

contributions 55 32
1,404 786

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

Be N TATREGESHMAL
(QEHEAATES) BEMT -

2021 2020
2021 ¥ 20204F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7 7T 4 2

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

H 22021 5F & 202053 A31 H IEF
B AKEWVERLE@RATZNE
e - IERMAREBR AR
EER R REI S ERBEEEE -
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13.

146

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FIBFHAX
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Deferred tax EERIE
Deferred tax charge (Note 24) FEIEFRIB ST ) (FI5E24) 111 -

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for

the current year as the Group has no assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FiI8HiMA (&)
The income tax expense for the both years can be PREEENFRERB X EEgS
reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated BREREMEEWSEF B EA
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive ESEEERAT :

income as follows:

2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before tax Br %4 B ETE (10,195) (32,883)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate BEBNEHHE16.5%
of 16.5% STERBIA (1,682) (5,42¢6)
Tax effect of: MIBZE -
Expenses not deductible for tax AT AR A 52
purpose 1,705 2,787
Income not taxable for tax purpose FERFUA (533) (231)
Temporary differences not recognised KR E FrZE&E (303) (1,227)
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRI AR TIEEE
not recognised (250) -
Tax losses not recognised RIERTIEEE 1,174 4,097
Income tax expense FREHAX 111 -
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14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BRE#E
The computations of basic and diluted loss per share ARREEANEBIEEREARNLE S
attributable to owners of the Company are based on the EE TR A T 8UEETE -

following data:

2021 2020
2021 % 2020F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET THETT
Loss BE
Loss for the year attributable RARIHE ANELFEERE
to owners of the Company (9,940) (32,883)
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Numbers of shares R 8B
Weighted average number of ARG EERER R EEHE
ordinary shares for the purposes 2T EBREE
of calculating basic and diluted
loss per share 1,242,000 1,200,000
Diluted loss per share was same as the basic loss per share BN MEFEAREECEED %
as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue TEBER RERBEEERETR
for both years. EREEER -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRZRE

Catering
Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
BE BRR £RR
NEEE BEXE AR RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TEL THET TEL ThEL
Cost %N
At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 718 11,252 3478 8,850 600 24,180
Additions NE 1,058 137 1,102 - 2297
Disposals & (200) (2,044) (619) (600) (3463)
Written-off ik (10,209 (1,239 (7,614) - (19,058)
At 31 March 2020 and RA0F3IANBR
1 April 2020 0054718 1,901 3% 1719 . 3956
Additions NE 1,783 410 642 - 2,835
Acquired on acquisiton of a ~ WEEMT B A AIETS ([ 32)
subsidiary (Note 32) - 70 80 - 150
Disposals HeE - - (45) - (45)
Written-off ik (903) (218) (400) - (1,521)
At 31 March 2021 #2021 535318 2,781 598 1,996 - 5,375
Accumulated depreciation ~ Eit T ERAE
and impairment
At 1 April 2019 R2019E4 518 5,051 2,501 5944 181 13,677
Charge for the year ERAX 2011 272 904 89 3216
Eliminated on disposals HERHH (99) (2,014) 451) (270) (2,834)
Impairment loss BEER 131 17 112 - 260
Written-off ik (6,444) (661) (5,804) - (12,909)
At 31 March 2020 and RA0F3A3NBR
1 April 2020 2020%4 710 650 115 705 - 1470
Charge for the year EERY 420 66 282 - 768
Eliminated on disposals HERHH - - (29) - (29)
Impairment loss REER 665 108 529 - 1,302
Written-off s (447) (92) (161) - (700)
At 31 March 2021 2021538318 1,288 197 1,326 . 2,811
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2021 12021634318 1,493 401 670 - 2,564
At 31 March 2020 M2020F3A318 1,251 221 1,014 - 2486
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15.

16.

150

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s management identified
certain restaurants which continued to underperform and
estimated the corresponding recoverable amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
Based on these estimates, impairment loss of
approximately HK$1,302,000 and HK$3,685,000 (2020:
HK$260,000 and HK$8,917,000) were recognised to write
down the carrying amount of these property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to their recoverable
amount respectively. The recoverable amount was the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated of future cash flows
are discounted to its present value using a pre-tax discount
rate of 7.6% (2020: 7.4%).

LEASES

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office
premises and restaurants properties. Leases for leased
properties are for a period of one to three years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group.

CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

15.

16.

M BERRE (@

ME- BERZEUREHAESE
ERE

R2021F3 8318 AEBEERE
BRETRABERNEENERE
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& T K3,685000/8 JT(2020%F :
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e BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FRAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use REBEFRAEEERTERSF
assets and the movements during the year are as NEEINT :
follows:

Leased

properties

HEW=

HK$'000

FETT

At 1 April 2019 R2019F4 418 24,034

Additions (Note) NE (BIEE) 14,527

Depreciation e (11,667)

Lease modification MEEE] (13,488)

Impairment AR (8,917)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 72020 3 A 31 H X% 202054 A1 H 4,489
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary W M8~ RS (P 5k 32)

(Note 32) 5,484
Additions (Note) ANE (FIFE) 4,591
Depreciation e (2,733)
Lease modification MEEET (3,289)
Impairment AR (3,685)
At 31 March 2021 M2021 43 A31H 4,857

Note: B5E -

ERURTENEEYE  AHN

Addition represents leased properties located in Hong Kong with

lease terms range from one to three years. 3}* = o
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Total cash outflow for leases (Note) HER LA (M) 4,886 12,472
Note: BHeE

E2ab)
&’;&Hﬁﬂ H EZQ%%ETEA%“%

Amount includes payments of principal and interest portion of
lease liabilities and short-term lease payments. These amounts

could be presented in operating or financing cash flows.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note
consolidated financial statements.

15 to the
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

16. LEASES (Continued)

16. HE (&)

(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEEE
2021 2020
2021 F 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Lease liabilities payable: RUTHEEMSEERE

Within one year —F R 1,842 5,839

More than one year but not ZR—FETERMF
exceeding two years 1,934 4,839

More than two years but not ZRMFETNERLEF
exceeding five years 924 2,885
4,700 13,563

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities range from 5.24% to 5.56%
(2020: 5.38%).

Fﬁﬂ+|¥mmi%%
(20204 : 5.38%)

17. INVENTORIES 17. B8
2021 2020
2021 2020 4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Food and beverage, and other B EEE N E h Z 2

operating items for restaurants EEMRKEIEE

operations 56 24
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES
There was no credit period granted to individual customer
for the restaurants operations except for a food delivery
agent with credit term of 30 days. The settlement terms of
credit card companies are usually within 7 days after the
service rendered date.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the dates of provision of catering

18. EZ WA

B A2 R L W E R F P RS
B8 HEEHRIOAMXERRE
RO ERARARMNEERBRER
RRHIRTS B MR 7 RA -

ATNRZREHRERRBAHRZIE
2 EMGRIB R R 24T -

services:
2021 2020
2021 ¢ 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT AR
0-30 days 02 30H 99 5
31-60 days 312 60H = -
61-90 days 61290H = -
Over 90 days im0 = 12 -
111 5

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 5 to

the consolidated financial statements.

BAERH AR R R AR & B 75 3R K b
k5 e
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RE M BwRME
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE 20213 A31 HIEFE
19. NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT DEPOSITS, 19. ERNHRNHZRE - AARIE
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & H fth B R IE
Non-current portion FEENEABR 40
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FETT
Rental deposits HERE 2,470 2,252
Current portion B HA &R 40
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Rental deposits HE%® = 2,198
Utility and other deposits NHAFEENHMES 781 1,121
Prepayments A FR0E 2,288 681
Other receivables H i EI 18 596 975
3,665 4,975

154

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 5 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

20. AMOUNT DUE (TO)/FROM A RELATED
COMPANY/NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Particular of the amount due to a related company is as
follow:

20. (FEAfY) FEUR — RS BE B 2
T EERRERRIE
FE — R A T BB T

2021 2020
2021 5§ 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Amount due to a related company FENT —E REE A A1 EIE
— Smart Elegant Enterprises Limited — &EHEERAE ([BRE])
(“Smart Elegant”) = (33)

BIBUR B EE A

= ©

The amount due to a related company is unsecured,

& < — el B Bt
B MIEERIE

interest-free and repayable on demand.

FRRKIFER RN RS RIAN

The maximum amount due from non-controlling interest

during the years is as follow:

BN

2021 2020
20215 2020 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHBT
Amount due from non-controlling JE WS FE1EE AR #E 2 5K IE
interest 1,296 -

The amount due from non-controlling interest is
unsecured, interest-free and recoverable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

FEUIEIE R s RIA R BRI - %
BB -

BEFEFBHNGEE T B RERM
5
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22.

156

21. RERBEEEY

2021 2020

2021 & 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Cash and bank balances IHe MIRTTHE 17,265 14,091
Short-term time deposits %2 BATE HATF 3k - 20,000
17,265 34,091

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed

with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Short-term time deposits are made for one to three

months depending on the immediate cash requirements

of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-

term time deposits rates at 2.0% per annum in 2020.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables

RITERIAFB AR B R FRY
BTHENGREEREBEEZRIT -
R HE M R IR T AR
MAKREFLA—E2=EA A
1A 2020 5 2 48 B3 52 HA 5 B3 17 R A

K20EMIMAE -

22. EZEARIE

ATREEZEH2IINE ZEN

presented based on the invoice dates: RIERREC DA -

2021 2020
2021 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAET
0-30 days 0&£30H 682 147
31-60 days 312 60H 62 67
61-90 days 61290H = -
Over 90 days #BiE90 H 628 221
1,372 435

The average credit period granted by suppliers are usually HERKTHFHEERET /30

within 30 days.
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23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

24,

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

23. EErBRAREMENRKE

2021 2020
2021 % 2020 €
HK$'000 HK$'000
FilT FHET
Accruals 4,424 6,293
Other payables H A fE 508 468 434
4,892 6,727
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 24, FEFIEARE

The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised

and movements thereon:

EERECHIAASR N EFINT

Accumulated

tax
depreciation
2 BIETE
HK$'000
TAET

At 1 April 2019, At 31 March 2020 and R2019F4 18 - 20203 H31H
1 April 2020 K 20204 A1 H -
Charge to profit or loss (Note 13) BBz Mk (FisE13) (111)
At 31 March 2021 M2021%¥3H31H (111)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unused estimated
tax losses of approximately HK$65,286,000 (2020:
HK$59,686,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the unused estimated tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams and unrecognised tax losses may

be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$1,835,000 (2020: HK$3,670,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences can be utilised.

R2021FE3A31H  A"EEKXKEFH
& 51 % 18 & 18 465,286,000 JT
(20204 : 59,686,000 7T ) A] AR K
AR BEF o WEFL KRB G
HEBBERELHEEE A
FA 2R B a8 i A AT T8 ORI K 4 BR HA 4%
B KRB EE -

RSB R - AN E /0] 05 E A
# %A 49 /1,835,000 7T (2020 % :
3,670,000/87C) c AR T KA gL B &
SR M A] 4 Eh AR AT N A A R
WA ERZ A S R ERERE
ERRIBEEE ©
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25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. A
No. of shares Amount
RDE R &8
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 £ 2020 2021 5 2020
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti Tt TET FET
Authorised: EE
At the beginning and the RENRER
end of the year
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each &% E B 0.01 87T 2,000,000 2,000,000 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR:
Atthe beginning of the year ~ RE4] 1,200,000 1,200,000 12,000 12,000
Placing of new shares (Note) B2 & ¥R (F15E) 240,000 - 2,400 -
At the end of the year RER 1,440,000 1,200,000 14,400 12,000
Note: sy -

On 27 January 2021, the Company placed 240,000,000 placing shares at
the placing price of HK$0.029 per placing share. A share premium, net of
issuing expenses, of approximately HK$4,351,000 had credited to share
premium account. The net proceeds of approximately HK$6,751,000 are
intended to be used for the general working capital of the Group. Details
of the placing of new shares were set out in the Company's

announcements dated 5 January 2021 and 27 January 2021.

158 CBK HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2021

R2021F1A278 » ARREGREERND
0.029 7% 7T 89 Fid & B fic & 240,000,000 A% it & &
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6,751,000 T RER BN —REEESD ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  26. A TR R ER EES T
MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) ADTFMBEMRRE
Company
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current asset IRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HEBARIRE — -
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other T FRIE N H A e WK R
receivables 175 176
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A R IE 18,239 25,354
Cash and cash equivalents WENIREEEBEY 3,972 5,408
22,386 30,938
Current liability REBERE
Accruals and other payables JEETE A M E b ER FIE 362 355
Net current assets REBEEFE 22,024 30,583
Net assets EEFEE 22,024 30,583
Capital and reserves BEXK#E
Share capital i 14,400 12,000
Reserves (Note 26(b)) 1 (3T 26(b)) 7,624 18,583
Total equity B 22,024 30,583
The Company’s statement of financial position was AN A B AR 2R B 5 2021
approved and authorised for issue by the board of FOANWREEEZSHERK
directors on 10 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf B WhH T EERER
by: E:
Chow Yik Chan Lap Ping
JE3ps) BRI
Director Director
2 EFE
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

27.

160

MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company

26. ARAMBRRRREFHEZ B

(&)

(b) ADQFREEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
R0 E AT EE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4 A1 H 56,198 (27,504) 28,694
Loss and total FABEREKREZH
comprehensive loss ERes
for the year - (10,111) (10,111)
At 31 March 2020 and MR2020F3 A31 B K
1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 56,198 (37,615) 18,583
Loss and total FABELREZEHE
comprehensive loss EEERE
for the year - (15,310) (15,310)
Proceeds from placing e E 2 I 10 BT B kT8
of new shares 4,560 - 4,560
Issuing expenses of AR & FTAR (D BV 1 TR X
placing of new shares (209) - (209)
At 31 March 2021 2021 ¥3A31H 60,549 (52,925) 7,624

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

27. EXBBERS
(@) Frira PR H AR B D R

financial statements, during the year, the Group BBE 2 AN - N5 [ A N B R
entered into the following material transactions with FRIBUATERRZS -
parties:
2021 2020
2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Lease payments to related Bl E NGk =D E
company (Note (i)): (BHEEG) -
— Smart Elegant — BRE 2,170 2,000
— United Strategy Limited — BN R AER AT 240 252
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

27. EXBBAE RS (8)

(Continued) (a) (&)
Amount owed by the Group Related interest expense
AEERENEE RENEEX
2021 2020 2021 2020
20215 20205 20216 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TEL ThERr THEL

Financing arrangement: BT

Lease liabilities (Note (ii) HEAE M) = 6,977 241 263

Notes: BitsE

(i) Smart Elegant and United Strategy Limited, both (i) BERBOIREERAR(HR
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and Ms. %15/% MR ABRAEE) EA
Wong, the former executive director of the Company, NAIRMERITESRER TR H
entered into lease agreements in relation to the leasing of EfE NAEHHEEREYE
the premises in Hong Kong for restaurant operation uses. NHEBEECA -

(i)  On 7 November 2019 and 31 October 2019, the Group (i) #2019 11 A7 8 K2019F 10 A
entered into leases in respect of the same leasehold 3NA - AEEEFEL(REER)
properties with Ms. Wong which is connected party. The HER—HEMHET LY - KEE
amount of lease payable by the Group under the lease is BERNTARN 2HESES R
HK$250,000 and HK$28,000 per month respectively, which /250,000 7T % 28,0007 7T * &
was determined with reference to market rent. At the BH2BMSHEESERT - RALOH
inception date of the lease, the Group recognised right-of- ARH REERAEAEEER
use assets and lease liabilities of approximately HE & &5 5 498,295000/% 7T &
HK$8,295,000 and HK$326,000 respectively. 326,000 7T °

Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) *EEXZERABNHMM (B

Group, including directors’ and chief executives’ BRE B mRM T 11 PR

remuneration as disclosed in Note 11 to the EERTHAIME) T

consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

2021 2020
2021 5§ 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET

Salaries, allowances, bonuses e B TEA K
and benefit in kind EYET 2,081 1,976

Retirement benefits scheme R FET B

contributions 78 80
2,159 2,056
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

27. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

162

(Continued)

Details of the balances with related parties are set out
in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

(d) The management service agreement dated 29 April

2020 was entered into between the Company and
Shanghai ShunFeng Restaurant Group Company
Limited (“SH ShunFeng”). Under the management
service agreement, the Company agreed to provide
catering supervision, guidance and management
service to SH ShunFeng from 1 May 2020. The
management services fees payable by SH ShunFeng
to the Company shall be determined on the basis of
6% on the turnover of the target restaurants. On 27
October 2020 (the “Termination Date”), the
Company received a notification letter from SH
ShunFeng to terminate the management service
agreement entered into with the Company with
immediate effect. All the rights and obligations of the
Company under the management service agreement
are terminated and the Company is not obliged to
fulfill its obligations thereunder since the Termination
Date. No management service has been provided by
the Company during the period and neither income
nor receivables has been recognised. It constitutes a
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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27. EXBBAE RS (8)

(c)

(d)

BB SR FIRENES
A %5 R M= 20 ©

AN B E B E AR E A
MERAR (I LEIER]) T
HHEIA20205F4 A29HHEE
AR 7% 1% 5% - BB E B R %
& ARQRIREB2020F5A1
H#em _E)F B R 12 4 & R B
B -BELREERY - LBIE
FEEMASEEZFHERRY
BEREZEGEEREEEN 6%
EETE ° 202010 H27 H([#
WA ARAWKE LZIE
R A B AN K - DAAR (FE AR A
RN HE R e - WA
e B 1EHERE C AR A]
REBREWHEE T 2 — I
FRBBEHTALE BAR
AWEETERITEE TR -
AARREAW EIREEME
B  INEERBA S ER
KIE o B E2021FE3A31H 1k
FE - BRELMHRUFE14AE
HERFERERS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set

28. B A RIFE

RFEMRARRERLEERE
HM B A RIFFBEIIAT

out below:
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid Nominal value
Place/country share capital/ of paid up and
of incorporation/  Class registered issued capital held
Name of subsidiary operation of share capital by the Company Principal activities
SE
ML/ EE BrRx/ ADAHBARR
WRARER 1%/BX RGER ARER BRTRAEELA IERH
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
E% [}:3 ER Ak
2021 2021 2020 2020
0216 20015 00F  00F
% % % %
Asian Energy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
SlENBRAT Bk il 10,000/ 7T EEXH
Character Creative Aisa Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$13 - 54.17 - - Provision of catering
("Character Creative”) services
BETHRRARI(TAIE) &R EER 1387 RUEERRHE
Country Way Corporation Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
Limited consultancy services
BRARAA & LBk 10077 RLEEERRY
Full Field Management Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
Limited
XERERRAT Bk il 10,0007 72 EEXH
Grand York Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
Limited
BRERERAT Bk LER 18T LB
Harvest Wealth Enterprises Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
Limited
KELFARAT Bk LER 1AL TEXK
Honour Star Enterprises Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
BELEARAT Bk RR 187 L
Jetech Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - 100 - 100 Dormant
ERERBRAT & LBk 2B LEXH
Kant Supply Chain The People’s Ordinary HK$10,000,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* Republic of China
(the "PRC")
FROEE(RIERAR  EARAAR LER 10,000,000 LE
([weE])
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. B A RS (&)
Issued and Proportion of
fully paid Nominal value
Place/country share capital/ of paid up and
of incorporation/  Class registered issued capital held
Name of subsidiary operation of share capital by the Company Principal activities
BRTR
ML/ €8 BERE/ ARAREHRR
WELRER %/ Bx RGRR ARER BRTRAEELA IERHK

Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
E# 3 BR Ak
2021 2021 2020 2020
1% 2021F  00F  00%

% % % %
Landshine Inc Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
ERARLA &R EBR 10,0007 LEEH
Lead Merit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
BRARLA B LBk 600007 LEXH
Moly Power Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
BNERAT &R EBR 18T LEEH
Most Will Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$640,000 - 100 - 100 Provision of catering
services
EHERAT B LRk 640,000/ 7T REERRH
Smart Sino Enterprises Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Investment holding
KERXERAT Bl LR 18T RERR
Smart Sky Enterprises Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
BREXERAT] B LRk 1A LEXH
Sunny Days Corporation Limited - Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
HEARAT Bk LR 18T L
Sunny Galaxy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100 - 100 Dormant
JRERRAR B LRk 2B LEXH
Sunny Shadow Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 - 100 Dormant
ERARAA Bl LR 18T LB
Sure Gain Global Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100 - 100 - Investment holding
("Sure Gain")
VEERERAR(28])  EBRLES TRk (B3 RERR
Tsui Bo Restaurant Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100 - 100 Dormant
REEEARAT B LER 2B LEZH
Voyage Won Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Dormant
KARRAT & TRk 10000%7T LEXH
# A limited liability company established in the PRC acquired by a # KA T —EH B AT R2021 %3 810
subsidiary of the Company on 10 March 2021. HIWEERRK T ERAT o
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling

28. B A RFE (&)

P B A3 R B 2 O 3 2
WA A

TR BT B A I P A
SEI2 ENER TS

interests:
Proportion of ownership interests
Place of incorporationand ~ and voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary principal place of business ~ non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
AT FERERFSARRRER
WEAFAR TRERHY RERALH AREFERRENER it FERER
2021 2020 2021 200 2021 2020
20215 2000% 20215 0% 20215 20%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§000
TR TR TEn TER
Character Creative Hong Kong
i B 45.83% - (336) - 1,834 -

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below

ERBEAERFEREENAEE
B R RMMBER RN T
PATN B 75 & BB 2 45 &= 1B R 4 85 Al
HIEH °

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Character Creative

RlfE

2021

20214

HK$'000

FExT

Current assets MENEE 2,665
Non-current assets FERBEE 7,306
Current liabilities mEAE (3,002)
Non-current liabilities IEREAaE (2,969)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NARIHEE ANEGER 2,166
Non-controlling interests FEEAR A 1,834
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

28. B A RFE (&)

Year ended

2021

BZE 20215

IHFE

HK$'000

THT

Revenue e 3,802

Expenses F 2 (4,601)

Loss for the year FNEE (799)

Loss attributable to owners of the Company RATEE ANEGEE (433)

Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests  JE3ZE IS 75 FE (G /5 18 (366)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss FAEBEERFATEBEER

for the year (799)

Net cash outflow used in operating activities BB FTAIR e mE E R (652)

Net cash outflow used in investing activities KEEEMAR AL F5 (2,703)

Net cash inflow generated from financing activities & ;EEFT1SIR & AR5 3,912

Net cash inflow WEMAFER 557
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29.

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

29. mERERERMETE
EXEmETENEEYHER

TERHVNELBEREBRYNAKHE
BiE BRRENMFReEH - E
TEREADNBERRASZRED
RIRKReREFERAEE LS
EHRERERDPERELBRER

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

PNRERE -

Lease
liabilities
(Note 16)
HEAE
(F¥zE16)
HK$'000
FHBT
At 1 April 2019 R2019F 4 A1 H -
Non-cash changes FREEH
— Effect of adoption of HKFRS16 — RN B BT B SR
F16RHTE 24,034
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEAENE 1,081
— Additions of lease liabilities —HEGEEM 14,527
— Lease modification — HEEF] (13,723)
— Covid-19-related rent concessions — A ERRE — BEEEER (834)
Cash flows RERE
— Outflow from financing activities — BEEE R (11,522)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R2020F 3 A31 H K 202054 A1 H 13,563
Non-cash changes FREEE
— Interest on lease liabilities —HESGENE 472
— Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary — WEEN B A RER 5,365
— Lease modification — HEEE] (9,580)
— Covid-19-related rent concessions — ¥R ERRE — BEESER (306)
Cash flows RERE
— Outflow from financing activities — BEEERE (4,814)
At 31 March 2021 #2021 63 HA31H 4,700
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30.

31.

168

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme,
employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. Employers
monthly contributions are calculated at 5% of the
employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (the “mandatory contributions”). Employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’'s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death
or total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable to the funds by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was conditionally
adopted by the resolutions in writing of all the
shareholders passed on 20 January 2017 (“Share Option
Scheme”).

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide
additional incentive to employees (full-time and part-
time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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HE2021F3A31HIEFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such
terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time
or part-time), director, consultant or adviser of the
Group, or any substantial shareholder of the Group,
or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in
accordance with paragraph (c) below for such number
of shares as it may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant
of any option shall be determined by the Board (or as
the case may be, our independent non-executive
directors) from time to time on the basis of his
contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Price of shares

The subscription price of a share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the
option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option and (jii) the
nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the
option.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted
within seven days inclusive of the day on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee
of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.0.

31. BRERTE ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

BXZERAR QR /2021 FFH
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(e) Maximum number of shares

170

(1)

Subject to sub-paragraphs (b) and (c) below, the
maximum number of shares issuable upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the
adoption date (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which
have been granted but which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of
the Company) must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the Listing Date (taking no account of any shares
may be issued upon the exercise of the Offer
Size Adjustment Option). Therefore, it is
expected that the Company may grant options
in respect of up to 120,000,000 shares (or such
numbers of shares as shall result from a
subdivision or a consolidation of such
120,000,000 shares from time to time) to the
participants under the Share Option Scheme.

The 10% limit as mentioned above may be
refreshed at any time by approval of the
shareholders in general meeting provided that
the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the refreshed limit. Options
previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the
refreshed 10% limit.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(e) Maximum number of shares (Continued)

HE2021F3A31HIEFE

(f)

(iii) The Company may seek separate approval by
the shareholders in general meeting for granting
options beyond the 10% limit provided the
options in excess of the 10% limit are granted
only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought.

(iv) The aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme or any other share option schemes of
the Company if this will result in such 30% limit
being exceeded. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 100,000,000 shares, representing 10%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual
report.

Maximum number of shares of each
participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to any participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. Any further grant of options in
excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting with such grantee
and his associates abstaining from voting.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
(g) Grant of options to certain connected persons

172

(1)

Any grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by independent
non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the
grantee of the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director (or any of their respective associates)
will result in the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted to such
person under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company
at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is
required to be approved by the
shareholders at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way
of poll.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(h) Time of exercise of option

(i)

()

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period as the Board may determine which shall not
exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof.

Exercise of share options

Save as determined by the Board and provided in the
offer of the grant of the relevant options, there is no
general requirement that a share option must be held
for any minimum period before any of the options
can be exercised.

Cancellation of options granted but not yet
exercised

Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised
may be affected on such terms as may be agreed with
the relevant grantee, as the Board may in its absolute
discretion sees fit and in a manner that complies with
all applicable legal requirements for such
cancellation.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
option has been granted or agreed to be granted under

the Share Option Scheme.
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32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 9 November 2020, the Group acquired 54.17% equity
interest in Character Creative from independent third
parties at a total cash consideration of HK$13. Character
Creative rents a premise which is located in Hong Kong
and was acquired with the objective of expanding the
Group's restaurants operations. As at the date of
acquisition, Character Creative was still at development
stage. Given the underlying set of assets acquired were
not integrated in forming businesses to generate revenue,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
acquisition of this entity was purchase of net assets which
did not constitute business combinations for accounting
purposes.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of

32. WEREBLHE

202011 A9H » AEBE M B L
B UWEAIERS417%ER 2
BEREAI1IBIL BIEEBLR
HEAN—REYE  MKEENEE
AEEENEREER - RIKERE -
BRI AR R ER o SR AT UL
W—HEEREET REBENABER
PUEANZ  MARRESRA
WEZERNBEFEE et
mE WL EKEBE D -

REERRRBNEERER

acquisition
HK$'000
FETT
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) M - BE & ERAE (EE15) 150
Right-of-use assets (Note 16) EREEE (Mt 16) 5,484
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &% ~ T8 38 K H Ath fE U 208 2,035
Accruals and other payables JEETE R LA fh R FIE (2,304)
Lease liabilities HEBE (5,365)
*  The amount is less than HK$1,000. * DR H,0008 7T ©
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENT 33. BARENE
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Capital expenditure contracted for BB RARIME
but not provided in the consolidated B FI#MBER A RLEGRE T H
financial statements in respect of MERFTIRBENEARAST
acquisition of a subsidiary 5,000 -
34. DIVIDENDS 34. B2

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 23 December 2020, Smart Sino Enterprises
Limited (“Smart Sino”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Liang Yulin (the
“Vendor"”) entered into the equity transfer agreement
("Agreement”). Under the equity transfer agreement,
Smart Sino has agreed to acquire, and the Vendor
has agreed to sell, 51% equity interest in the Target
Company representing RMB5,100,000 of its registered
capital, at a total consideration of HK$10,000,000
subject to the fulfilment of the conditions precedent
and the relevant terms and conditions set out in the
equity transfer agreement (the "Acquisition”).
HK$1,000,000 and HK$4,000,000 of the consideration
have been settled by cash deposits upon signing of
the Agreement and satisfactory of the result of the
due diligence respectively. The remaining
HK$5,000,000 of the consideration will be settled in
cash on or after the completion date. The Acquisition
has been completed on 18 May 2021. Details of the
Acquisition were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 25 May 2021, 12 March 2021
and 23 December 2020.

On 1 April 2021, Smart Sino, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as lessee, entered into
the lease agreements in respect of the lease of
premises located in Central with lessor, who is an
independent third party, as lessor for the period
commencing from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2023. The
estimated value of the right-of-use assets to be
recognised by the Company under the lease shall
amount to in aggregate approximately HK$2,111,000.

36. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to

37.

conform with current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 10 June
2021.
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Summary of Financial Information

MBERBE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 & Z2021F3 31 AILFE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the  LAN AN B & A A BEE R T3
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years: #&EREENBEHME :

Years ended 31 March
BZ3A31ALEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 4 20205 20195 2018 2017 &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET FET FET

Results #i5
Revenue g 12,634 43,024 92,099 122,653 134,758
Loss before tax BRBIATER (10,195) (32,883) (18,839) (10,482) (6,145)
Income tax (expense)/credit e (Fx) /e (111) - (1,722) 736 (1,912)
Loss for the year and total FRABELEAZE

comprehensive loss BiEEE

for the year (10,306) (32,883) (20,561) (9,746) (8,057)

Loss for the year and total ~ T REEIEEE
comprehensive loss for the  FERFEZHEER

year attributable to: e
Owners of the Company NABIHEA A (9,940) (32,883) (20,561) (9,746) (8,057)
Non-controlling interests IR (366) - - - -
(10,306) (32,883) (20,561) (9,746) (8,057)
Years ended 31 March
BE3IANBLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 F 20204 20194 2018 4F 2017 %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 37,284 48,322 66,920 90,045 103,256
Total liabilities mafE (11,075) (20,758) (6,473) (9,037) (12,502)
Net assets EEZRE 26,209 27,564 60,447 81,008 90,754

Equity attributable to: AT &IAEEER
Owners of the Company VN/NCIEZZ =N 24,375 27,564 60,447 81,008 90,754
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RS 1,834 - _ _ _

26,209 27,564 60,447 81,008 90,754
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